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2023 30

(Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited)

KY1-1104
309GT
(P.0. Box 309GT, Ugland House, South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands)

03 6775 1762

TRP
(Nikko AM Offshore Funds — TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund)

10 1,341

1,000

2023 28 UFJ
134.13
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UFJ

https://www.sc.mufg.jp/products/trust/index.html

Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited

UFJ
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Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited
2018 24
FirstCaribbean International
Bank and Trust Company (Cayman)
Limited
2018 24
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.
UFJ 2018 23
2018

)
2003 26

)
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() 2023

2023 480,000 6,438

134.13 480,000 134.13

1,000,000 1,000,000 3,413

)

2003 26

2009 27
)

2023
EC2V 5DE 480,000 100.00
40
Nikko AM Global Holdings (40 Basinghall Street, London EC2V 5DE,
Limited United Kingdom)
(
1925
50
150
(
(
D@

2003 11 17
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JPX JPX

MSCI-KOKUSAI

MSCI Inc.

MSCI Inc.

MSCI

MSCI Inc.

MSCI Inc.

NOMURA-BPI
FTSE

FTSE Fixed Income LLC FTSE Fixed Income LLC

FTSE Fixed Income LLC

JP GBI-EM

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC
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2023
106,894,229.87 99.16
909,161.79 0.84
107,803,391.66
14,459,668,923 100.00
2023

us

4,928,272.47

25.95

127,878,933.29 21.69 106,894,229.87 99.16
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2022 2023

2018 12 31 50,551,939.00 6,780,531,578 9.12 1,223
2019 12 31 36,019,078.00 4,831,238,932 11.61 1,557
2020 12 31 111,427,243.00 14,945,736,104 15.31 2,054
2021 12 31 163,175,060.00 21,886,670,798 17.89 2,400
2022 12 31 91,585,112.00 12,284,311,073 10.88 1,459
2022 116,987,502.19 15,691,533,669 12.69 1,702
105,625,930.00 14,167,605,991 11.53 1,547

120,916,080.99 16,218,473,943 13.05 1,750

115,106,164 .87 15,439,189,89% 12.63 1,694

101,098,248.64 13,560,308,090 11.33 1,520

10 101,379,951.94 13,598,092,954 11.43 1,533

11 100,094,021.12 13,425,611,053 11.43 1,533

12 91,585,112.00 12,284,311,073 10.88 1,459

2023 98,924,722.64 13,268,773,048 11.88 1,593
95,994,688.91 12,875,767,623 11.81 1,584

100,466,474 .44 13,475,568,217 12.56 1,685

101,252,501.82 13,580,998,069 12.84 1,722
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2018 12 31 1,739,101,517 8,995
2019 12 31 1,390,992,944 11,126
2020 12 31 2,825,977,115 14,429
2021 12 31 1,738,994,808 16,726
2022 12 31 881,245,877 9,814
2022 904,084,156 11,816
840,547,520 10,717

937,782,535 12,077

902,875,500 11,655

865,557,864 10,400

10 941,773,730 10,455

11 946,505,935 10,393

12 881,245,877 9,814

2023 957,274,019 10,661
851,166,910 10,548

896,995,211 11,157

892,001,915 11,353

2023
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-8.80 -10.05
27.30 23.69
31.87 29.69
16.85 15.92
-39.18 -41.32

100x%

10
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5,640,700 96,692 5,544,008
(5.640,700) (96,692) (5.544,008)
1,577,193 4,018,901 3,102,300
(1,577,193) (4,018,901) (3,102,300)
7,640,129 3,462,516 7,279,913
(7,640,129) (3,462,516) (7,279,913)
5,888,232 4,049,599 9,118,546
(5,888,232) (4,049,599) (9,118,546)
1,782,626 2,482,685 8,418,487
(1,782,626) (2,482,685) (8,418,487)
205,219 11,868 193,351
(205,219) (11,868) (193,351)
10,956 79,280 125,027
(10,956) (79,280) (125,027)
231,597 160,771 195,853
(231,597) (160,771) (195, 853)
34,383 126,267 103,969
(34,383) (126,267) (103,969)
25,675 39,850 89,794
(25,675) (39, 850) (89,794)
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2022 12 31
TRP
2022 12 31
137,325,186 97,447,086 13,070,578
1,541,120 206,710
157,201 21,085
99,145,407 13,298,373
259,313 34,782
171,272 22,973
125,568 16,842
48,358 6,486
29,271 3,926
24,754 3,320
17,138 2,299
15,406 2,066
1,833 246
188,493 25,283
881,406 118,223
98,264,001 13,180,150
121,342,740 16,275,702
(23,078,739) (3,095,551)
98,264,001 13,180,150
881,245,877
89,794 9,814
91,585,112
8,418,487 10.88 1,459

134.13
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24,568 3,295
24,568 3,295
823,441 110,448
354,713 47,578
76,010 10,195
38,005 5,098
37,524 5,033
19,007 2,549
12,671 1,700
104,166 13,972
1,465,537 196,572
(1,440,969) (193,277)
(753,688) (101,092)
(1,631,400) (218,820)
(2,385,088) (319,912)
(66,079,544) (8,863,249)
322,697 43,283
(65,756,847) (8,819, 966)
(68,141,935) (9,139,878)
(69,582,904) (9,333,155)
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TRP

2022 12 31

(1,440,969) (193,277)

(2,385,088) (319,912)

(65,756,847) (8,819, 966)

(69,582,904) (9,333,155)

25,675 2,016,818 270,516
1,782,626 24,692,702 3,312,032
39,850 (4,449,035) (596,749)
2,482,685 (32,689,980) (4,384,707)
(10,429, 495) (1,398,908)

(80,012,399) (10,732,063)

178,276,400 23,912,214

98,264,001 13,180,150

134.13

49/194




134.13

EDINETOOOO

OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)

TRP

2022 12 31

Ooooooooooooooooooad

(69,582,904) (9,333,155)
(13,356,000) (1,791,440)
25,148,000 3,373,101

753,688 101,092
66,079,544 8,863,249
(322,697) (43,283)
(61,129) (8,199)
(23,809) (3,194)
10,146 1,361

83 11
(11,968) (1,605)
(18,712) (2,510)
4,237 568
29,881 4,008
8,648,194 1,159,982
26,709,520 3,582,548
(37,049,780) (4,969,487)
(10, 340, 260) (1,386,939)
(1,692,066) (226,957)
3,233,186 433,667
1,541,120 206,710
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2022 12 31 2022 12 31
16,726 17.89 2,400
(218) (0.14) (19)
(6,694) (6.87) (921)
(6,912) (7.01) (940)
9,814 10.88 1,459
(41.32) (39.18)
881,246 91,585 12,284,296
1.82 1.13
(1.80) (1.11)

@

134.13
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2022 12 31
Q)
99.2
99.2
99.2
5,327,889 T Ffowe Price Fund*s SICAV - US Blue Chip 992 97,447,086
Equity Fund Class 1
137,325,186 97,447,086
97,447,086
137,325,186 99.2 97,447,086
0.8 816,915
100.0 98,264,001
(13,180,150,454 )
2022 12 31

Q)
10,107 Alphabet, Inc. <A~ 0.9 879,420
80,881 Alphabet, Inc. <C~ 7.2 7,072,268
84,641 Amazon.com, Inc. 7.1 7,023,485
73,615 Apple, Inc. 9.6 9,414,645
39,612 Microsoft Corp. 9.6 9,429,204

134.13
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C )
y ¢ oy ¢
C )
Brown Brothers 2023
Harriman & Co. 41,804 30 (306) 12 12
Brown Brothers 2023
Harriman & Co. 31,560 30 2%2) 8 8
Brown Brothers 2023
Harriman & Co. 75,921 30 (581) @ ®
. 2023
Citi PB 919,257,244 30 (6,846,072) 146,200 146,200
. 2023
Citi PB 26,915,028 30 (200,682) 4,045 4,045
. 2023
Citi PB 38,897,056 30 (290,223) 5,645 5,645
Brown Brothers 2023
Harriman & Co. 8,013 30 (1,095,923) (323) (323)
Brown Brothers 2023
Harriman & Co. 13,183 30 (1,796,307) (480) (480)
Brown Brothers 2023
Harriman & Co. 80,750 30 (10,554,110) 471 471
. 2023
Citi PB 389,561 30 (53,134,089) (14,600) (14,600)
. 2023
Citi PB 239,699 30 (31,404,834) 820 820
157,201 (15,406) 141,795
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2018 28
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GAAP
GAAP

ASU  2015-07

2022 12 31

2022 12 31

157,201 157,201
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157,201 157,201
2022 12 31
(15,406) (15,406)
(15,406) (15,406)
2022 12 31
FASB ASC 740
50
71,607 1,448
46
4,894,181 27 1,631,112
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SICAV
SICAV us
SICAV 2010 12 17
UCITS
CSSF

S&P 400

)
)
() ) )

15,101,340 163,175,060 178,276,400
2,016,818 24,692,702 26,709,520
(4,449,035)  (32,689,980)  (37,139,015)
(5,990,234)  (63,592,670)  (69,582,904)

6,678,889 91,585,112 98,264,001
103,969 9,118,546 9,222,515
25,675 1,782,626 1,808,301
(39,850) (2,482,685) (2,522,535)
89,794 8,418,487 8,508,281
74.38 10.88

57/194



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

10.00
10,000
2018 18 2018 27
2022 12 31
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10
0.001 100 0.01
0.001 10,000
2022 12 31
2022 12 31 171,272
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2019
ASC 815-10-50
a b
c
ASC 815
1SDA 1SDA
1SDA
2022 12 31 MNA
MNA
o
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. 491 (491)
Citi PB 156,710 (14,600) 142,110
157,201 (15,091) 142,110
2022 12 31 MNA
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2022 12 31
157,201 15,406
2022 12 31
(1,632,560) 322,697
0.28
0.03 2.5 0.25 2.5
0.24 0.22
2022 12 31 354,713 2022 12 31 24,754
0.07 2.5
0.06 2.5
0.05
60,000
0.05
50,000
2022 12 31
76,010 2022 12 31 125,568
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0.015

15,000 2022 12 31
19,007 2022 12 31 29,271

0.03
2022 12 31 38,005 2022 12
31 17,138
10
0.65
2022 12 31 823,441 2022 12 31
259,313
11
140,000
FATCA/CRS 1,500

0.65

12

1970
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2022 24
COVID-19
13
10
12

2022 12 31
14
15

2023 12
2023 2023 12 217,418
1,022,038
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMEMNT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Unlted States Dollar, unless otherwise indicated)

L S
rvikmirity i Ungid yirgg Fund, ot fair walue (aoie of USD 13305, 186)
]

Ui il i ibtiann oy Tor waed Erbdn durnindy dahiogd S0rkiadts
Total st

Liatdlities:

A truad ditrboniey fem

Fayabipfor Units rodaumed

Aziruad fustadian and i -admiieatesy fan
Aesarad profimiiongl s

Acoruid trustos s

Acrud managanant S
Astruad igant caepiny's ha

Unr il pied dispridiati on on foewsird Baraign turtendy ewthinge coriracks
Adtruad regitration foes

i s

Todal Faslition

it Antwes Amribitable o Unkboldert

Enabytitof et Blues

Fadin capial
Ehtrbndl aris in dadirs 0 idrnings.

et Aarry Amribue sl 1o Unitheldery

Port Rzvet Walue per Uinit
P Hachged Clins B9 ERL 2E5,EFT « 8D, 70 Linits sutstins rg)
(S0 Clas WD S1,585,112 + BAIEAST Linits autstanding)

Tha sccarmpirning Aoles aie bn inlazial part of thess financial statemants,
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS.
Forthe Year Ended December 31, 2022

{Expresied in United States Dollar)
Iremstment Inconoe;
et LE k] 55
Tora! Bt Ineima 24558
Expenieg:
Eintrimtion’s. S E2EAa]
Waragement faey 358713
Cisndisn &0 dsulb sdmimiskrshse's et MO0
Aggant coempany's fes B0
Pradissnal faet 37504
Trostioe fiem. 12,007
Tracndir agant b 125
i sy — e
Tk Egsanis - 1465537
Pyt e sbment Losdes (B850 904
Fealized gaimsf|lovoes) and change in lkz e o v e i b i aikoey)
Faivhad o]l
Isvrmaants Salios od Linderhying Fund [FaZE8E)
Foreign currancy transactons and forwand foragn cerenoy eathangs conracts 41,63 A0
Bt realipnd | Dk LP i |
Changen b ed approcation fidepredation
Ieirsmuants i Lindird ying Fund 155,009.584)
Forgi gn currency tranaties and forward Torsgn curency eschanga contracts ke 4z
Rk change In wnraalioed depracation 55, T STy
gt raalited and chaeg e in wmrdalized boied and deperacialion TN Rk ]
et decreace in net azsets resulting from operations LT LT

Thea s cam PENYIRG MOTES Bfe B inlazial par of thess fnencidl aatemants,
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF CHAMGES IMN MET ASSETS
Forthe Year Ended December 31, 2022
{Expressed in United States Dollar)

Ircrease [Dereace] im Net Auees from

COpeer okt
LTt s S0 §1LAAEFES)
Mt reabaed basas [
Mt ehange i unneibiped dispriciation S5 b Ra T
Bt dicrease | net assots resulting from onerations — G OEr A0}
Capital Tranasations:
Uinas, s
1PV Hesdgad Claa {25,675 Unaiy FAGLA R
LD Olass | 1 FELENG Lindts) DAETL IR
Uitz radearmed
1PV Midged Class {39,550 Units) 4,089 018 )
L0 O (3452555 Units) {353 e, S|
Mt decreass | n et a8 sty reslting from castdl tansactons P— =
Total Deoeats in Mt Assety —
Pt Asseas:
Esrgs riingg of yarar —liEainacn
End of pine Ll sl

Thea s cam PENYIRG MOTES Bfe B inlazial par of thess fnencidl aatemants,
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022
{Expressed in United States Dollar)

Cath flevas from operating acthddes
ot chaerinag o it it e ing Born aperatioen S0 (50,582,004)
Adpstrnents to reconcle the net decreaoe bn ret assets resulting from operationsto net cach provided by

OpETing acthitier
Furchase of iseumantsy (13,355, R
Pradaith fram s 3 d Fakurty of srantects 5,148,000
Rk lonnes oo Irmvdstrnints [0 st TER b
Changen unsimb e depeed stin o imasmsnis EEOTASEL
Changiin unrish ord sgpre ot on o Forwird fonsl gn turrency eechange contrachy {EFRESn
Change in aceett and liabllities related to oper ationes
Dazraass in ac o oo 3 and wib-admen irater's b L1294
Do in e drued profiional fas (ILEIG
Intrinein atrued trusee fse 10140
Drocraasd in acorued fegsar aton fes el
Dacrddiay in i Cnaid masagimect b [11,958)
Dacransddin accruad datibutors feos [1E710
Incradnein scorued apeet company s fee 47717
Fcroaraim acoruad ol or o eaedas Iazs]
et cash provided by operating achities L
Cash flows jused in] financing acthvites
Fracoads e st ol T FRS520
Py d LS rachisgmaid s e
Kt cath (wed Inj firandeg acthities (40,280 7600
Pt dearease incash and fonelgn oarmenoy (LGS 066
Cash and loregn curancy st beginning of yoar . ko e o)
Cathard fareigh aumrandy at snd of yeor M LSSLLN

Thea accam PEAYIRG MOTES Bfe B ilazal par of thess fnencidl gatemants,

68/194



TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
FINANCIAL HIGHUGHTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022
Selected Per Unlt Data and Ratios

(Expressed in United States Dollar, unless otherwise indicated)

EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Bt Adiat Vialue, biggirning of yaar

Bt i brmenh hossesH!
Wit rrabinged aned unrilined e
Bt disdrgdasd i n el At rnaiting & dem Sgu Misn

Wirt Anairt Vi, v of i

Total rotue

Rt Sonpd et claby

et drbiets i P e (DK

by ovoef et T it ity

Faabioof il invitmant Koy (0 avirige not assaty.

IPY Hedged Class S0 Clate
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
PORTFOLID OF INVESTMENTS
Decenber 31, 2022

{Expressed in United States Dollar)

Buraber of % of Kex
Curvency Shires Seiir ity Deaerfption Aniei Fusir Vol
INCVLS TR T O LM LR Y I LA D [P

LUEFRBOLIRG [ )
TOAINEY FURD f0.7u)

133 5 IRAES TRowe Brice Funds SICAN - U5 Blue Chip Eguty Fesd Clads i* 9% L&D o7 84088
TORAL LU ERBOLUSEG [Cost IS 137,325, 1856] STAATpEE
TORAL INVESTRAEM T I8 1IMDVERL YING FURD BTN E
TOVLAL TNV ERATS P 008 PO 107, 17% 106 ) i (L] LERTETTTY
A AN DV EHE R ASSETS I ELCESA O LIAILITHS o B1681%
W T Ao T MRS, mponoeapey

Thoene: are P s e s B by thie v estment Company for witich the Fun o s proparton sl Bapomune [0 Chis sy by exceecs S parce i of et
wsets a5 of Decembar 31, 02X Irvvesimends ane presentes in Gable beiow

%ol Kt
Curmency  Shami Security Oetoription AR Pads Valuw
[1.3+] 18,867 Alpianiagt, bt (=} . Lre T el
(L] BOGRE] gttt np T LR
[L21] ] AT e, I Tiw TS
1] TAELS Appie, Inc A ERIET ]
L&D EET- Watraoatt Covp ET-H 0,429,204
1Py edged Clate Forward Forelgn Qurency Exchiange Contracts
it Unssaliped
Kotional  Settlement Hotional Unrealized Urrealized  Appreciation/
Py Countierparty .l.r-_:ul Date el m_l.lll: Eppredation  (Depreclation)  (Depreciation)
i Erowm Brothirs Herman & On ALE OLFEVNE USD {306 ED 12 USD T 12
T Bewm Brothers Harrman & (o, A DA WGD (F-] B - B
BT feowm Rrotharg Harrman & o, BOI DI 0D -1 1] - £ ] =]
WY CPR F9ET A CLORDE [1.5:3 [Eabiory 168 X0 - FEL % i
®T  CnPE HHILE CLEYOI LD (AO0EY 4045 - 45
BT ChiPB WMETBE OLAYINEE  USD [P ik ] 5,85 . 5585
USDH B Brothers Harrman & o, BOI3 OLAEO2E  PY (Lo - Erid [3z3
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
WOTES TO AINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Forthe Year Ended December 31, 2022

CRGANIZATION

TRP UG Core Growth Bquity Rund (the “Fund®) is & series rrust of the MNikko AM Offshors Funds, an open-ended unit irust
edtablishad by & supplermental trust deed dated May 14, 2018 {the "Supplermental Trust Deed®), under the laws of the
Cayrnan Isdands. Nikko AN Offshone Funds was estabished by a master trust deed dated October 15, 2012 (the “Master
Trust Deed™), under the laws of the Cayman Isdands and s licensed with the Covman I8 ands Mone tary Authority pursiant
tosection 4{1]al of the Mutual Funds Law [ 200% Revidon]. The Fund commenced cperations on June 28, 2018,

The Fund's assets are managed on a day-to-day basls by Mido AM Global Cayman Umnited | the “Manager]. The Manager
delegates investmant mansgement duties to MNkks Asset Mansgement Co, (4., {the ®imeestmeant Manager®). The
Ivwestm enit Manager may del agate responsibilty for the management of the investment and re-Imestrment of certain parts
of the Fund's irvestment portfdlio to other investment managers, The administration of the Fund is defegated to Srown
Birathenrs Marrirran & Co (the *Custadis” and “Sub-Admivistrater”), alimited partnaciip crganizad under the ks of the
State of MNew Yoric

The investment cbjective of the Fund is to achiews growth in the vadees of units ower the long term by investing into a fund,
which Irests mainly in a dversified portfalio of stocks of large and medium fped “tlue chip™ companies In the United
States,

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, RrstCaribbean international Bank and Trust
Company [Cayman) Limited {the *Trustee” and the “Administrator”) isnamed as Trustes of the Fund.

Tha Maniager appointed Mitsubishi UF] Morgan Stanley Securities Co,, Lbd toactasAgent Company (the “Agent Corngamy™)
and b st a5 Distributer (the “Distributec) of Unitsin lapen,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Tha Furd is an Investment Company that folows the accounting and reporting guidance In FASE Accouning Stondards
Codification S46.

Lize of Estimotes

The accomparning Enancial staternents hwe been prepared in accordang e with accounting principles genarally accepted in
the Unitad States of America ("LLS GRAPY). The preparation of fnancia statementsin sccordanos with WS GAAPR reguires
the Fund's management 1o make sstimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assecs and Babliides and
disclosures of contdingent assets and Babilites at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period, Actuad results, including the ulimate amount realized upon the sale of fair valued
Ervesbmienits, could dffer from those estimates and ssch diffsrences may be sgnificant.

Borir of Accounting

Seourity and contractual ransactiions are recorded on a radefcorract-date basls, Interest income i recorded on an
effactive yield basis, net of any applicable withholding tax interest expense and other expenses are recorded on an acorual
basis. Realized gains and losses from securty transactions are computed on the basls of the average costof the searities
sobd or covered. Changes In the valuation of investmants are recorded in the Statement of Operations as unrealized
spreciation of depeacinbion,

Valuation of lnvestments

vwestmenits in cther investment compandes (“hedge funds®) are valued on the basls of the Net Asset Vialue [ ™NAVT) per
shafe a5 reportad by the adeministrators of those enties a1 the messurerment date based upsn policies and procedures
adapted by the Furd. In cases where the Fund could in the rormal courss of business redesm its underdying imestmant,
such impeaiments are generally valued at the net asset valuations provided by the administratcrs of those entites,

In caes where the Fund is unabla 1o redeem its underlying investment, seth investrmentsin portfichio funds are alse valued
ot the net amet vabustions provided by the adminfstrators of those entities, provided that the underlying portfdio funds
hawe caleulated thair net aset vahuations in accordance with Bccounting measurement guidance which is spplicabis to
BT SOmEnT ComOanid s 8,8, Investmean ts within susch und erlying investrment companies have been fair valued In accordiance
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

SLUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [cortinued)

Vidwration of lavestm e is feantin s
with spplicable LLS GAAP, unless the investment Mansgar datermines that such & vaustion wauld not be the most
soproprinne indicator of fair walue, in wivch case tha investment would be fair valued by the Evestment Mansger,

In accordence with the autharitatve guidence on fair value mesturements and daclonres under LS GAAP, the Fund
discorses the fair value of Fts investments in o herardhy that prioritizes the inputs tovaluation techniques used to mesre
thee fair value, The Merardhy gives the highest pricrity to valeations based upen unadiusted quoted prices in active markets
fior idantca assets or labisites (Lavel 1 rrsasurermsnt) and the lowest pricrty te velustions based upon unobdervaiile inputs
thar are sgnilicant to the vauation [Level 3 mesuraments. Theguidancs astablishes thr se levels of the fair value hisrarchy
a5 fioll s

+  Lewel 1 = Inputs that reflect tnadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical investrmiants that the Fund
s the shility toacoess at the mesrament date;

+  Level I = Inputs other than quoted prices that are sgrficant and observable for the asser or liability either
directy or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considerad o be active;

+  Level 3- Irputs that are sgnificent and uncbservable,

Inputs ars uted in applying the various valuation technigues snd broadly refer to the ssumptiont that mirkat participants
wse b ks valuabion decions, induding sssumptions about risk, |mputs may include peice tnformation, specifc and broad
cradit da'lz,ﬁq.l'ditf statistics, and other factors. A finandal instrument™slevel within the fair walue hisraechy is based upon
the lowest beval of sy input that is sgnificent o the Fair value mesurement. Hovever, the deterrination of what
constiutes “observable” requires sgrificant pdgment by the Investmaent Manager. The invesoment Manager considers
obssrvable dma to be macket data which i3 readiy svalable, ragulady distributed or updated, refiable and verifable, not
proprietary, and provided by independent scurces that are pctively invalved In the rel event market, The categorimtion of a
finandal instrumentwithin the Herarchy is based upon the pricing ransparency of the instrument and does not necessarly
corraspond 1o th msesoment Manager's perceived risk of that insirument,

I snments whode valu s are based o the quoted market prices in active rmarkets, and tharefore classified within Leval 1,
woudd include sctively raded eguities, certain LLS, government and soversign cbfigatons, and certain maonay market
scirities The investment Manager would not adjisst the guoted price for such instruments, even in Shations where the
Fund held alaege position and asale could reasonably Impact the guoted price,

mpestymants that trads in markets that ae not considered to be active, but are wdued bised on guoted rmerket prices;
dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by chsarvable inputs are diessified within Level 2. These include
ivestmantgrade debt securities, short-term imestrmants and forward forelgn currency eachange contracts. As Leval 2
Impestments Include posiions that are not traded In active markets and/or are subect to transfer restrictions, valuations
may be adjusted o reflact lifquidity and)or non-tramsfer ability, which are generally based on sailable market information.

Imvestments dassifed within Level 3 have sgnificant uncbservable inputs, as they would trade infraquantly, Level 3
instnements would indude asset-backed securities and collateralized morigage chligations. As chservable prices are not
viiilible fox Hhdam securities, the Fund woold wse valustion techriigues bo dedve the Filir wilyos

The inputs or methadology wsed for valuing securities ane not necessanty an indication of the risk asscciated with investing
En thoge saqeritias

I meoordancs with ASU 2015407, the Fund si o i et i companies hasnot been categarized in the far
el hlerarchy noe in a roll forward of investment activity.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS [continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

SLUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [cortinued)

Viruation of lnvestrn an s [oontinoed]

Tha folldwing table prasants the finandal instruments cariad on the Statament of Assats snd Liskflites by caption and by
fevel within the valustion erarchy as of December 31, 2022 Fusther classificatons of the finsnclal imruments are
presented in the Portfolio of Mvestrnents.

Aitend o Fair Vel Fair dalus 2
Leveld Leved 2 Leyed 3 December 31, 203
Forward Foregn Cumendy
Lsthange Contracts s - us 157,200 5] - s 157,20
Total UsC - Ush 157,20 1) - 5] 157,20
Uabdigies at Falr Value Falr Value 2t
Level 2 el 2 Leved 3 Decerber B, 203
FFiorward Faraign Cumendy
I achange Contrachs. L&0 - LS 1154060 (5] - LD {15.808)
Tokal 50 = (53] T ) - D [5AE]

Curing the year ended Decernbar 31, 2022, there wers no rranshers in or cutof Level 3, The Fund's policy i 1o detenmine
levalling and sssess all ranafers ssat 8 year end date.

Forslgn Curren ey Translation

Assars and [fabilices held in currencies other dhan Unitsd States Dollar ("USER of the “Functional Currency™] are transiaed
b Ehe Functional Currency &t the rate of excharge prevalling ot the finsncial staternent date, Incorne mnd expenses ore
ranslatad ot the rabe of exchange prevailing at the date onwhich the income or expenss isincurrad, Realized and unrealized
gans and [ossas arising on forsign currendy transsctions are induded in the Staterment of Operationsin the period inwhich
ey oeEur,

The Furd doss not {sclate that portion of the results of operations resuling from changes in forsign exchargs rates on
irmverstments from the luctuations arising from changesin market prices of ssourities held Such fuc timtfons are induded
wath the rat raali ped and urresized gain o | oss from inestments,

lncowme Taoes

Uinder tha aurrent laws of tha Cayman Elands, there are noincome, withholding, capital gaeins or cther taass payable by the
Furd. i oartain jurisdictions other than the Cayrman idands, Toreign taes may be withhvald at source on dividends and
Enperess recaived by the Fund, Capital gains denved by the Fund in such perisdictions generaly will be sxsrat from foreign
Encarme or withhalding taces st scurce. The Fund intends to conduct its affars such that it will not be subject to income tax
b arry juriscBetion. As & relt, no proafsion for incomss taces has been made in the finarcal soaternents, Linithalders may
[ Bionad o6 thar proporticnate share of the Fund's tax b s modeme basad on thar indie duell Orommstndss,

The Furd follows the suthoritative puidance on acocuniting for and discloure of uncertanty in b positions (Fnencid
Accounting Standards Board ("RASE") - Accounting Standards Codification 740}, which requires the Maneger to determine
whether a tax position of the Fund is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing
asthorty, inchuding, resclution of any related app eals or litigation processes, based on the technica merits of the position.
For tae positiond meating the more oy than not threshold, the tax beneflt recognized iin the finendal statemaents is
reduced by the langest benefit that has agraater than ffty percent liefhood of being realized wpon witimate settlement
with the relevant taxing authority, The Marage has determined that there s minfmal or no effecs on the Anancial
amaterments being under this autharitative guidance,

Forwara Foreign Cuvren oy Ewch ong.e Controcts

The Fund rmay enter inta forward forsign curmency exdhang e contracts to hedge against foreign cumency exchangs rate risks
on 3l or a portion of non-USE denominated imvestrments or for effident porticlio management purposes. When entering
into a forward foreign ourrency exchange contr act, the Fund agrees to receive or deliver a fived quantity of foreign cormency
for an agresd-upon price on an agreed future date. These contracts ore valued dally, and the Fund's net equity thenein,
representing unrealized appreciati onf[depredation) on the contracts as meamred by the difference between the forward
loreign currency exchange rates at the dates of entry into the contracts and the ferward rates a2 the repocting date, i3
included in the Staterment of Assets and Liabilites Realized and unrealized gans and losses are induded [n the Statement
of Operations,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

SLUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [cortinued)

Forward Foreign Currency Eechange Contracts [con tinwed)

Thesainstrurnents imaohée mdrket fisk, credit risk, or both kinds of ritks, it emcess of the amount recognizedin the Staternent
of Assets and Liabiities. Rises arise from the possible Inability of counterparties to meet the terms of their conbracts and
from mosament in currandy and seaeities values and interess rates, In addition to the Cles leval badging, tha Fund had
reatiped |oms of USD 1,448 on 1 forward forelgn asrrency exchange contract during the year with an average motional of LS5
71507 and an sverage berm bo maturity of B doys, The Furd had net realiped logs of LS0D 1,531,113 on 46 Torward foreign
currency mchanges contracts held at the |5y Hedged Cless levadl during the year with an aversge notiona of L0650 4,854, 181
and o gverag e berm o maturty of 27 deys,

Ceth srnd Fovs ga Currinsy
Cartihy v Toesign cutrancy compeises all currency hald with Brown Brothers Harriman & To,, end overnight and other shoet
term placements with cther financial instiutions

INVESTMENT IN THE LIDERLY IN G FUND

That Fund shill prirmarly impest in shares of US Bhus Chip Equity Fund [the “Linderying Fund™), & subfund of T, Rowe Price
Fursds SICAV, & soddtd dirvestissement & capital var able [*S0CANVT) established under the lives of Lumarmboung. The SICAY
qualifies oz an Undertadng for Collective investment in Transferabde Securities | "UCITS") under Part 1 of the Luxembourg
Rowy of Diecernbier 17, 20010 on wnder fakdng s for coective imeestrrent [the "2000 Law™) end [5 registerad on the offidial list of
collet thse investment undertakdng s maintained: by the: Gormmizsion de Survelllance du Secteur Bnand e (SC55F7)

The chjective of the Underfying Fund is to increase the value of its shares, over the long term through growth in the value
dfhimmhhvimﬁrﬁ#ﬁiffnadiwiﬁed portfolia of stocks of lrge and rmadium seed "Blue chip® companias
fn theer Uinited States,

Spedfically, the Underying Fund inwests primarily in equity and equityrdated securites of companles that are dther
incorporated in the United States of America or conduct most of their business there, that have a market capitalisstion
ogud 1o of greater than the companies in the Russell Mid-cap Index or 58P Mid-cap 400 index, and that have a leading
ket position, seasonad management and strong firencial fund armental, Types of securites may include commeon stocks;
preferred stocks, warmants, American Depository Recelpts [“ADRS"), Eurcpean Depository Recelpts ["EDRS") and Global
Depotitony Receipts{ “GORST,

In seaking boachisve e Underhing Fund's chjsctive the Lindarhying Fund may dso irvest, o on andllary basis, in cther
ofgible securites as described inits prospecius, this may include efigible securities From other countries, to mone than a
Errived earari

The Linderlying Fund many use devivatives for hedg ing and effident portfollo management.

The Underlying fund's finandal statements are prepared undsr generally accepted acoounting principles in Luzembourg
and the sccounting polides of the Underlying Funds are substantially comestent with those of the Fund, Units of the
Uinderiying Fund mary be redeemed on each Business Day.

uNITs

The net asets of the Fund are diided Into JPY Hedged Class Units and LS0 Class Units, The Uinits are dencerinated in
Iaganese Yen and United States Doflar, JPY Class Uinits and LISD Class Units ane avallable to an sigible mestor whes is any
person, corporation o entitywhich is not ) & “US imvestors” (s delined balow]; (i) sperson or entityresident o damidled
iny the Cagrnan Idands [exduding any chject of a chardtable trust or power or an evempied or nonresddent Cayrmian iands
cornparryl: (iii) unable to subscrite for or hold Units withowt viclating applicable lows; and (vl & custedian, nomines, or
trustee fior any person, coporation or entity described in i) ko (i) abowe, or such other persons, corporations or entities as
datermined from time to e by the Manag o, with the approval of the Trustee,

While all or mibstantinlly all of the assets of the Fund may be held in LLS, Dollars, it s intended for the Fund to enter into
hedging arergements for the benafit of IPY Hedged Qs Unita, which are denominated in lapamess Yen, Thoge
arangemantswill be to hedge against adverse movernents of the cummency of denominatdon of the invesomantsin the Series
Teust relative to Yer, Amy profits, gaind, losses, costs, intome and expending e sssocisted with such hedging arangements
will be bome by IPY Hecged Jass Urits
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TRP LS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINAMNOAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

UMITS [contivm ed]

Fer theyear ended Decernbar 31, 2022, the notional expoaire on the IFY Hedged Class forward currency exchangs contracts
approaimatead the serage net assats for |PY Hatdged Class baing nat long, IPY and short USOL Opan contracts at year and
are dusclosed in the Portfolio of Invesbments,

Tha Marugar may detarmins o ius one or more chissesof Units of the Fund withau t pricr notice to of written consntal
the Unithalders

Ml of the net assets attributabie todFY Hedged Qs Units and USDClass Uinits sre held by one Unithalder.

Py Oass USD dass. Total Fund

Eualarzi m Dacamie 31, 7021 LS YRI0LEA0 UED IERITSOE0 USD ITRITSAD0
St & Hutirg L o TG, HIE 24,692,700 TEIEE20
Radermptioen during the yal AL S (32,550,360 ELIRNLE
Bt discrisdsar [ mid asdrts rivse i ng fr oy o dltions. {5 ) {63,552, 670) FEESEES08)
Rirt Advits o Disiomiir 30, FIQ2 D GHrEEsd el SLORAND WD S8 IR1000
Bumbr of Linds in s of Docombor 30, 2001 102,99 9,118,546 AFILEIS
Units vsuind during thae year A 1,7 R 2, B0 30
kit rirduiemid dharing th year (39550 (e RN (2592, 585)
Kurmbspr ad Linds in s of Dotamser 31, 2002 LT [T 50820
Bt Aot Waku per Lt ot Decembor 30, 2002 s T3 SD 10.88

Subsoriptions for Units

LED Clarss Linits ware subsearibad for by Eligihle investors during the initidl Dffer Pericd & tha inftisl purcheses price of LED
1004 per UriE. IPY Hedged Class Units were subseribed for by Eligible investors during, the initial Offer Period at the initial
purchase price of IPY 10,000 per Unit. The Iritial Offer Pariod cormrmenced on June 18, 200 Band ended on jume 27, 2018 in
addition tothe subscription price, the applicant shall pay a soles charge calod ated at up to 356 {exdiading anytax applicable)
of the purchase price, 1o the Distributer. Thete were no sales charges pad during the yeir anded Decamber 31, 20220

Curing the Initid Offer Pericd, the manimum subscription for LBD Cless Linits per subscriber wiss 10 Units o more, and in
mudtiples of 1 Unit thereafter. During the irtial Offer Period, the minimum inftal subscription for 1P Hedged Qass Units
jpar subscriber was 1 Unit or maore, and inmudtiples of 1 Units therealter,

Onvand after the Initisl Oosing Day, the minimum subsoiption o USD0ess Units per Unkithal der is sither 10 Uhitsor mare,
and In multiples of (U002 Linits thereafter or L&D 100, and in multiples of LS3 0.0 thersafter, On and after the  initial
Oosing Day, the minimum subsoription for JPY Hedged Class Linits per Unitholder is either 1 Unit or more, and in multiphes
of .001 Units thereafter or IPY 10,000 and in muitiples of 1P7Y 1 chereafter,

The Manager may walve o change the minimum inldal and addidonal subscription amounts set forth above in its sole
distretion fram times to Bme

Uinit Redemptions

Tha Fund reccogrizes redermptions In accordance with the authortative guidance on distimguishing Habllithes from egquity.
Redernpiions, whether sxpressed a5 Linited States Dollar, lapaness Yen of Unis, are recognized as Fabilities when sach of
ther lapanasa Yen and United States Dollar Unitamoun (s regu ested In the redemption notioe becomes flved, which generally
ey Gocur either 8T tha e of the receipt of the notice, o on the last day of & fscal year, depending on the natureof the
regquesh. fs b resls mmmd%hmmhm&mhmwm end net dsats are reflectad a8
redemptions payable &t Decemnber 31, 2022, Thers wene UBD 171,272 of redernptions payabie as ot Decernber 31, 2022
included as Payable for Units redeaned in the Staterment of dsets and Lishilities.

Regpurchese of Uinits
Lirita may b repurchased of the option of Unithelders on esch Rapurchase Day {rsans sadh Valuastion Dy, of such ather
day o days as the Manager may Trom tmes b0 dme determine in respect of the Series Trus),

Uratholders wishing 1o have Lnits repurchased must send & completed Repurchase Notics o the Distributor 50 85 1o be
received by the Distributor nolater than 2200 p.m. (Tolopo time] on the relevant Repurchase Doy, The Distributor will send
the completed Repurchase Nodces to the Sub-Adminsstrator by ng later than 6:00 pom, (Tokys dme) on the relevant
Repurcharse Day or by such other tme a5 the Sub-Adminigtrator may In any particular case determine.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

UNITS [contin bd]

Kepurchose of LUaits {contimued]

If the relewant Repurchase Notica s notreceived by the Sub-Administrator by the reevant time, the Repurchass Moticewdll
e el cver LNl the net Repurchases Dy and Linits will than be redeanmed ot the relegant repufchase price applicabla on
that Repurchanse Day, in the event sither the day after the relevant Dealing Day or the day falling two daysafuer the refevant
Diealirg Dy is & diy onwhich banks of stodk exchang edin Japan ace nal open fof normal business, army Rapurdhass MNotice
received on such Daaling Day, shail not be acoepred and instead, will be acoepred on the next Dealing D

A Repurchase Notioe, onos given, is brevocable,

Campulsery Redemption

It the et that the Trustes of the Manager shall determine that amy Units of amy dass of & Fund are baing hald by or for
the benefit of a personwho isnot an Bigible investor for such Fund or that such halding would cawse the Trust or the Fund
o be required to register, be subjact to tam or viclate the lows of sry jurisdiction, o if the Trustes o the Nunager has
resson to doubt the legitimacy of the source of monies used to fund the subiription or purchase of sudh Units, o for
whatever reason fwhich may not be discloted by the Trustes or the Manager to Unitholders) that the Trustes o the
Manager considers appropeiae ol its sbsciute dscration hiving regerd 1o the interests of the Unitholders of the refevan
Qarss o the Unitholdars of the Fund as a whaole, then the Manager, after conmitation with the Trustes, may direct the
haclcdar tharsal to sall {subject o the prostsions described bl dw in dhe section headed "Tramsfar of Linfty™ such Urits within
10 darys and prowde to the Trester and the Manager evidence of such sale, Talling which the Manager may redeoam such
LiriTa,

Termination of the Fund
Upon termination, the Mansger will redlize oll the assets of the Fund, and after paying cut or retaining ad eguste provision
for all Babiiites properly payable and retaining prosision for the costs of the termination, the Trustee shall dsiribute the
proceeds of that redization to the Uinitholders proportionately to their respective interests in the Fund as of the date of
terrmination of the Fund,

Distribo Sons to Unitholders

The Manager may, from time to Bme, in [ts sole discretion, dedare distrbutions from May 201%. Distribution will be
dedared annusly on each Distributon Racord Date and calculsted on each Ex-Distribution Date, Distribution Perod is a
period commendng from the calendar day Following the precading Distribution Becord Date and ending on and induding
the Distribution Record Date. The distibutons will be paid on the relevant Distribution Payment Date, provided that such
amaoumt (i ary) dedared with respect to the rel evant Oass of Unitsin respect of the appificable Distribution Period shall only
b paid ot of the Fund's net income, rédlized and unrealized capital gans and any distributabls funds of the Rind
alributEsle to swich Oassof Urits as deterrnined by the Manager.

Tha declaration of distributions to Unithclder s reduces the COars Level Met Asset Value per Unit without any comesponding
chargs in che rarnber of Clss Lvel Linits per Unithalder, This resads in o Linfth clder’s overall imvestmaen tin the Fund belng
reduted. in sddition, sny datributions during 8 pedod which are in sxoess of the Fund's net increass in net smets rewlting
from operations results in 8 portion of the distribation being retuen of capetal,

Tha emcunt of distributions, if ey, will ba determined by the Manager In its sole discration, and no répresentation of
guaranes fs mads that a distribution will be made in respect of each or any Distribution Perfod

Capitalization

Tha Mel Asset Value per Unit is caloulated for each Deallng Oay [each Valuation Day, or such other day or days as the
Managar iy from e to e denarrins in respact of the Fund], by ddding the differance in valus benwsen the Fund's
asats and abilidies (including accrued Tees and expenses of the Fund) by the number of Units cutstanding.

The Trust Deed stipulates that the rumber of Units to be issued in the Fund shall be unEmrived a6 the Manager shall
deternine and shall be without par value,

DERNMATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) B1 5-10-50 reguires discdosenes abour defvetive instrumants end hadging activitfes,
It requines that the Fund disdose: a} how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, b) how derivative instruments and

related hadged itérms ate accounted for aad ) how dedvative instruments Bnd reated hedged items affect an entiny's
financial posiion, inancial performance and cash Mows
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
Forthe Year Ended December 31, 2022

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS [cortinued)

The Fund transacts forward derivative Instruments primarity for hedging purposes with each Instrument®s primary risc
exposre baing foreign exchange rise The forward foreign cumency exdheng & contracts held by the Fund do not qualify &
hedges for accounting purposes under the requirements of ASC B S, The fair valee of these derivative Instruments 5
indudedin the Statermant of Asse ts and Lishilihes with chargesin fair value reflacted asredized gaing{lossesh or net change
in v ewlied apprecistionfidepraciation) on dervatives within the Statement of Operations (Mote 2\

The Fund may enter Into an intermationadl Swaps and Derlvative Association, Inc, Master Sgreement (5504 Master
Sgreement”} with its counterparties in onder to mitigate countesparty rise The S04 Master Agreement is typically
nagotiated by the Fund and its counterparties, contalring the bi-lateral terms and conditions for all subsequent derlvative
ransactiond, The 1504 Mester Agresrnent aliows for the netdng of all amounts owed 1o o due rom countarparty into &
srgla net payrnent i a credic event or default should ooour,

Trwes Funid has slected o not of fsec falr value recsivabiles and payvabl#s for derhmtive contracts on the face of the Statement
of Assetsand LishEdes,

A Decarnber 11, 2022 the Fund had anterad into the fallowing derivative Beats by counterp ity met of rcunts avalable
for offset under & Master Netting Agreerment [“MMNAT) and net of any collmeral received bry the Fund:

Dierhsative Auoeis Dher bt Honash Cash Nek Arsourk of
Cousberpaety Subjectto 3 MMA  Available for Offset Collateral Recehed Colfasteral Recebeed Derhvative Aitsts
Brown Broahars Hariman & G, 180 £91U50 Ay usn T — 50 =
iti PB — 156,10 BAED) - - 142,110
Total s 157,200 S0 | L5051 LIS - 50 LTS 187110

At December 31, 2022 the Fund had entered into the following dervative liabilies by counterparty net of amounts
svalable for of et under @ MMNA B netol ey collateral pledged by the Fund:

Drvaive MR A e of
Commberpsty Liabdiziet Dheratived Karrcath Caik Dreribvathoe

Subie o WA Available for OiffLer Collateral Mledped  Collaterd Pledged Listalities |

Ergwms ictbgry Harriman R 0o, LUSD B LS EERILED =L =kiils H5
it M 14800 {1500} - - =
Toral [TE] 15,400 U0 (LR LD ] - U0 s

L B ot mopants T et Gt reok bl famyabis Tram the ceenseIpaty i the st of def it

At Dagarcher 31, 2022 the Fundhad entered into the foll cwing darhvatives:

BuseiDebetive Llabilics Deheachees

Dertvathves StatEmET Statement

et Aecounted fior an of Axores and of Sssers and

Hisd g intrument Lighiligiet Location Fair Vakes Liabilitiwi Lseation Fair Value

Forwied forgign surrgney  Urraalped aporatiation [ T T ]

imtFulngi ot ot o Forvaie d fonidgn i forward fordign

[Curmency Rk} DTNy echanga s 157201  cuTenty dechangd LS 15406
Ededradky EorRrach

T affiact of derhathe instruments on the Statemant of Dparstfons for the wear endad Decermbaer 31, 2002

Drerdvathed ot

Booounted Locaticnal Reazed Change in Unnealized
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQLITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Tha Manager is entitled to receiwe out of the sesets of the Fund a management fee of a total of up to 3.28% per annum
(0,05 % per annumn [n respect of the fee Tor the Manager and (0L15% per anniumi for the portion of the MNet Asset Value w o
LD 250 milioe, 0,24% per arnum for the portion of the et feser Valus over LED 250 million up 1o USD 500 million and
0.22%per anrium for the portion of the Net Asset Valuwe cwr LISD 500 million in respect of fee for te Investment. Manager)
of the Nat Asser Vel ue seeruad of, and calculbibed & o1, each Valustion Day and pryabis rmonthly in arrases In addition, the
Mamagar is also entided to be reimbursed out of the msets of the Fund for any expenses incurmed by it in the  proper
performance of IS powers and duties ot penmittad under the Master Trust Dead.

During the year ended December 31, 2033, the Manager eamed fees of LED 354713, of which US0 34,754 |5 sl
cutstanding a5 of Devember 31, 2022,

The Manager will pay the Tees of the imstment Manager cut of its Tees, The Irvestrnent Managsr will be responsible for
paing tha fees of any of Its defagates or other partes appointed by the Investment Manager to perfonm its functions in
respact of the Rund: proided, however, the investment Marager may chags & ransaction Tes on the subsriptions and
redenmptions of shares of the Underlying Fund,

CLEETODIAN AND SUB-ADMINISTRATOR'S FEES

The Fund has & amstody and socounting agreament with Brown Brothers Mamiman & Coo [the “Owstodan”™ and “Sub-
Adrminigtratee®) for which the Custodian recelves & fee calculited and pald monthly based on total st and transaction

wolume,

Tha Jiestadion and Sub-Administrator is ansitlad 0o raceive cut of the swmats of the Fund an sdministration fae induding
transfer agent fee) on the Net Asset Value acorued on, and caleulated asat, eachVal uation Doy at the following annual rate;
- 0T Rup o (andincleding] USD250 million;

- 006 s b [and inclsding] LS D500 millicn;

= DL0E% cvner LISDr 500 millior,

Such administration fee is payable monthly in amears, and subject to the minémom annesd fes of UBD 60,000, The Sub-
Adrriniserater is slso antitled toreoshee out of the assets of the Fund fees for currency admiristration and execution sendoes
at the: rate of (U05% per annum of the Met Asset Value of the relevant Unit Class, subject to the minimum annual fee of USD
50,000, I sddition, the Custodisn and Sub-Administrater (s also entitted to recaive customary safekaeping fees and
transaction charges. All cut-of-podket expenses of the Custodian and Sub-Adminisirator shall also be borne by the Fund.
Curing the year ended Decarnber 31, 2022, the Custodian and Sub-fdminisirator asmed fest of LED 76,010, of which USD
125,568 is st ourstanding a3 of December 31, 2022

TRUSTEE FEES AND ADMIMISTRATOR'S FEES

The Trustees is enbifad toreceive cut of the assets of the Fund acombined fies ot the rate of 0,00 559 par annum of the Nat
Assat Valus accred on, and calculated &s at, each Valuaton Day and payable guarterty in arrears, subject 1o a minimum
anmual fee of LED 15,000, During the year ended December 31, 20232, the Trustee sammed fees of LIS 19,007, of which USD
29,271 s stll cotstanding as of Decermber 31, 2022,

AGENT COMPANTY'S FEES

The Sgent Company is entithed to recaive cut of the ametsof the Fund & fee at the rate of 0U035% per annum of the MNet Asset
Walue accrued on, and calculated as at, each Valuaticn Day and payable quasrterdy In arrears. Durning the year ended
Decernber 31, 2022, the igent aarned fees of LS0 38,005, of which USDA T, 138 is sl cutstanding 25 of Decernber 38, 2022,

DISTRIBUTIOR'S FEES

Tha Oistributor is entitled to recalve cut of the awsets of the Fund 3 fee ot the rabe of 0BS5S par anrum of the Net Assat
Value accrued on, and calculated as at, each Valuation Doy and payable quarterdy in amears. During the year ended
Deernber 33, 320G 2, the Distributors sarned Fees of USD 8231 841 of which LED 255 3113 s =il cutptanding 25 of December
31, 2022,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

CITHER FEES AND EXPEMIES

Tha costsand expanses in connection with the ssablisherent of the Fund and the ol fering of the Linits, tog ether with the
establishmiant of the Trist, including the costs and axpenses of preparing and printing sy prospectus or explanatory
Brochures regquired, are sstimated to amount 1o spproximately LUSD 140,000, Such costs and empensess will be amortsed
within the firsg five [5) fnancia years of the Fund unless the Trustee dedides that some other mathod shall be applied. The
Adrninistrates raceives UBD 1,500 per mnum for FATCA f (RS compiance sendces,

Tha Underiying Fund is entithed to receive cut of the assets of thae Undarying Fund, a fee o1 the rate of 065% per annum of
the Nt Assat Waue of the Underdying Fund.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund’s activities sspose it 1o 8 variaty of Fnancial risks: masket risk [fn duding price risk, Ingerest rabe risk, and currancy
risk), credit sk and guiding risk

Adarket R
Al irpestments present o risk of loss of capital, The Imvestrment Manager moderaines this nisk through & carefid selecton of
securi ties and cther finsncisl instruments,

The Furkd's investm snt mansg ement prooess is descibed in Note 1, The primary determinant of the Fund’s abiity 1o mes
its chjective of mid to long term capitd appreciation while earning income is dependent on the performance of the
rmestmant in the Uinderhyirg Fund

The walhues of the Fund's investroents are affected by & number of Factors, induding but not Errited to, changes in the wider
wconamy, financial and mency mardets, foreign curmency exchang @ rabes and inberest rate movernents. The Fund enbers
fnte forweard contracts which to varying degrees reprasent & markost risk in excess of the amount reflectad on the Fund's
Statemant of Assels and LisbSifes, The notional amount of the forward contract represents the extent of the Fund's
P ticipation in these francid instruments. Market s assodated with such foowand contracts arjse due to the posdble
ercaernents in foreign currency exchangs races underying these instruments,

Oither rrarkost and cracic risks include the possbility that there may Be an lliguid market lor the contracts, that the change
in the value of the contract may not drectly comelate with changes i the value of the underlying currendes or that the
counterparty to & forward contract defaults on its cbiigation o perfarm under the terms of the contract. The Fund's
eposirne b0 los diee b0 counterparty non-perfommuance on open futures, fonward s, sap and opons contracts islimited to
the whredited appracistion inherent in swuch finen dal instruments which are recognized in the Staterment of Assets Bnd
Liabilides

Cradie Rigk

Credit risk represents the potential loss that the Fund would Incur I the counterparties, falled to perfom pursuant tothe
e of thesr obligations 1o the Fund, For sxchange-raclad contracts, the exchange SIS BS the counterparty b0 specific
ransactions and, therefore, bears the vtk of delivery to snd from counterparties of specific positions. The Fund's
managament doss not corider that credt fisk relaned o cpen derivative contracts will hinve material adverse affectonthe
financid condition of the Fund,

Athough the Blanager monitors the Custodian and befeves it to be an appropriste custodian, thers is no guarantes that
dhisor sy custod an that the Funed may use from Dime to e, will notbecome insclvent, which could lead 1o losstslor the
Furd.

While both the LS, Banionuptey Code and the Securithes investor Protection Act of 1970 seel 0 probect customer property
i theevent of & faliure, ibclven oy o guidation of an institution, thees isno cerumnty that, i the svent of & falure of an
nstnation that has custody of Fund assets, the Furd would not incur 1osses du e 10its assets being unmsalabls for a period
of tirnes, ultimately lesa than IUl recolery of its assers, o both, Because all of the Fund’s cash is in oustady with a single
Ensrnation, sach losses condd be sgnificant and could materially ingalr the ablliy of the Fund to achisvs [ts imvesoment
cbjectva The Fund {s subject to cradit sk to the satent that this instinution may be unable te FulfRl its chligations to repay
amoLns cwved,

Lrquidity Risk

Inwestiors should be swane that the value of Units might fall o well 81 fise, Imvestrnantin the Fund imaolves o degree of risk,
thera can b o BGRUrEncs that the Fund's imsestrent objisctve will be adhieved,
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Forthe Year Ended December 31, 2022

FIMANCTAL RISK MAN AGEMENT [tontinaed)

Liguaddity Risk (continuned]

Tha Fund is exposad to daly repurchase of its Urits but managsment belisves that the Fund has suffident resouroes to
meet the present and foreseeable needs of its business cperations and, If necessary, the liquidity to fund repunchases and
achiewe o market posibion appropristely rellecting a smaller capital base. This position s monitored continually by
managerrenk (o ensure that the Fund has the abiiity tomest [ts cbigations,

The Trustes, after consultation with the Manager, may suspend the issance and repurchase of units and payments in
ragpect of guch ransactions in ary drourmatances whare the taloulation of the Underhying Fund®s MNet Asset Value per unit
s sispendad, The Trustes will inform unitholdars of such 8 wispension &% soon 85 practicable after it is imposed or Efted.
Subserfpdon applications and repurchase notices cannat be withdrmm during such suspersion and will be processad for
the nent Devaling dete. All Unitholders of the Fund will be promptly notified in writing of any such suspension snd will be
prompthy motiffed upon termination of suth suspension,

Corran oy Risk

The Linit price of USD Qass Unitsis deterrmined in USD, and the Unit price of IPY Hedged Oass Units is determined in lapaness
Yar while the Fund is denaminated in LS. dallars, The Fund, howevar, miry imsest a portion, o 8l of, its assets in other
arrendes, o in instrumenis denominatad in non-Japanese Yen o non-LE Doilar cumrencies, the prices of which will be
detarrvinied with referancs 1o sudh non-lapaness: Yen or non UG Doller currencies, Tha value of the Fund's assets will Auctuste
WAt kapanesa Yen axchange rates aswell as the prics changes of its investments in thevanicu s ocal markets and currendes

The Fund also may utilize options and forward contracts to hedge against owrency Auctuations, but there can be no
Esmirance that such hedging ransctions will be «ffective, and such bechniguaes entail costs and additional risks,

The irvestment manager monitors the Fund's aurrency exposane on a daily basls.

Qther Risk

On February 34, 2022, Russs |sunched » militery inverdion inte Ukraine, Tha conflict, which s cogoing 8 of the date tha
thar financial satementsvesr o avslable (o be isued, carriessignificant risks for aworld economy that has yectofully recover
fron the impacts of the global COVIDH1D pandanic, Relatad irpacts to gecpoliticsl instability, Snancisl market volanling
and the irrpos on of snctians, may in e impact the sntity,

BORROVANGE

Tha Marager andfor its delaganes rmay Borrow manen for the acoount of the Furd prosided that it will not barrow money
if, a5 @ result of such bormowing, the aggregate amcunt of cutstanding borrowings eifected on behall of the Fund would,
Everadintaly following such borrowing, excesd 108 of the valus of its et sssens, save that this Freit may be exceaded
tempararily for a pericd not sxcesding 11 months in special situations including, without limitation, a menger of the Fund
with anather seres trust, imvestrrent fund or other type of ool lac thee meestrmant schemes,

Thare were rdbamowing s during the yeae anded Decernber 31, 2022,
COPMBAITRENT S AND COMNTINGENCES

n the normal course of business, the Trstee on behalf of the Fund may enter Into contracts that contain a variety of
reprasentations and warranties andwhich provide general indernilioations, The general indsrnilcations apply Aot anly B
the eatent such representatons andwarrantles are untrue but also may cower thind parties such as the Fund's Administrator,
Pandivar or Irvestrnent Marager for claims related to the sendoes parlormed for the Fund, The Trustes's mamum eponre
under any sich arrangaments 5 unknown, o6 deposune only arises 1o the extent fiture dlalims that have not yet cocumed are
rriche Bgains the Trustes, However, based on saperiencs, the Trustes sxpacts the rsk of Ioes 1o be remices,

FIBSECLENT EVENTS

Management parformad & subsequent events review up 2o May 12, 2023 which is the date the financds statements wers
availdble tobe ismed.

Effective lanuary 1, 2023 through May 12, 2023, there ware subseriptions of USD 217,418 and there wera redamptions of
L0 Y, 022 038 Tn respect of IPY Hedged Class Uinits. Thers were distributions of mil in respect of 1PY Hedged Oass Units.

Effective January 3, 2023 through May 12, 2023, there were subgeriptions of US0 2,571,022 and there wene rademptions
of LED B 791,558 in respect of USD Olass Uriits, Thare ware distribu tions of nil in respact of LBD Cless Units,

There are no ocher signiflcant ewents Lo report as they relate 1o the Fund.
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2021 12 31

TRP
2021 12 31
149,870,874
176,072,318 23,616,580
3,233,186 433,667
5,090 683
179,310,594 24,050,930
278,025 37,291
186,697 25,042
185,992 24,947
82,037 11,004
72,167 9,680
36,722 4,926
19,125 2,565
12,901 1,730
1,916 257
158,612 21,275
1,034,194 138,716
178,276,400 23,912,214
131,772,235 17,674,610
46,504,165 6,237,604
178,276,400 23,912,214
1,738,994,808
103,969 16,726
163,175,060
9,118,546 17.89 2,400

134.13
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171 23
171 23
977,613 131,127
421,126 56,486
195,797 26,262
45,908 6,158
45,121 6,052
22,560 3,026
15,040 2,017
2,046 274
194,895 26,141
1,920,106 257,544
(1,919,935) (257,521)
13,133,627 1,761,613
(2,099,565) (281,615)
11,034,062 1,479,999
10,027,270 1,344,958
(221,426) (29,700)
9,805,844 1,315,258
20,839,906 2,795,257
18,919,971 2,537,736




TRP

2021 12 31

34,383
5,888,232

126,267
4,049,599

134.13
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(1,919,935) (257,521)
11,034,062 1,479,999

9,805,844 1,315,258
18,919,971 2,537,736

4,828,137 647,598
101,163,989 13,569,126
(18,130,633) (2,431,862)
(67,303,871) (9,027,468)
20,557,622 2,757,394
39,477,593 5,295,130
138,798,807 18,617,084
178,276,400 23,912,214
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2018 14

2012 10 15
2009 a CIMA
2018 28
BBH
BBH
2022
UFJ
FASB ASC
946
GAAP

GAAP
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NAV

GAAP
GAAP

ASU  2015-07

2021 12 31

2021 12 31

5,090 5,090
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5,090 5,090
2021 12 31
(185,992) (185,992)
(185,992) (185,992)
2021 12 31
FASB ASC 740
50
13 100, 697 4,260
48
11,378,112 31 2,008,632
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sicav
SICAV us
SICAV 2010 12 17
ucITS
CSSF
&P 400
)
)
) ) )
27,371,564 111,427,243 138,798,807
4,828,137 101,163,989 105,992,126
(18,130,633)  (67,303,871)  (85,434,504)
1,032,272 17,887,699 18,919,971
15,101,340 163,175,060 178,276,400
195,853 7,279,913 7,475,766
34,383 5,888,232 5,922,615
(126,267)  (4,049,599)  (4,175,866)
103,969 9,118,546 9,222,515
145.25 17.89
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10.00
10,000
2018 27
2021 12 31
10
10
0.001 10,000
2021 12 31
12 31 82,037
10
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2019
ASC 815-10-50
a b
c
ASC 815
1SDA 1SDA
1SDA
2021 12 31 MNA
MNA
@
Citi PB 5,090 (5,090)
5,090 (5,090)
2021 12 31 MNA
MNA
@
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Citi PB 185,992 (5,090) 180,902
185,992 (5,090) 180,902
o
2021 12 31
5,090 185,992
2021 12 31
(2,094,372) (223,813)
0.28
0.03 2.5 0.25 2.5
0.24 0.22
2021 12 31 421,126 2021 12 31 36,722
0.07 2.5
0.06 2.5
0.05
60,000
0.05
50,000
2021 12 31
195,797 2021 12 31 186,697
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0.03
45,121 2021 12
0.65
977,613 2021 12 31
140,000
1,500
0.65
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2020 COVID-19
COVID-19
13
10
12

2021 12 31
14
15

2022

2022 2022 554,670

3,791,524

2022 2022 16,389,898

14,613,413
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LLABILITIES
Decemnber 31, 2021

Eﬁmmudln United States Dollar, unless otherwise indicated)

EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Baiiatz!

Irpdtmarss n Und eiprgFund, o Fair valus (cost of LD LASET0LETA)

Canky

Uewaali red spgrecintion on lorward foragn turrency eschange cortracts

Tofml assets

Lighlitin:
rareed ditributors Fees
anparagd eirmoeckan aned sube lmini s mor's fees

Urraalsod depraciation on lorw ard foraign turrinsy snchings cortres

Payablefor Units redeemed
ol professonal fees
Angr s o g B fael
Asirad frui et

A Bard eoen panyt lee
Arcrpad regEration fees
har anperses

Tiotal kabwlties

et Assets Amrbutalyle e Unithelders

Benabyein of Not Ayeots:

Pad m copital

Tetnl distributable sarnings

Met Aspet Attebubabes bo Unithalder

et faret Value par Uit
{7 Hedged Olgs 7 1,738, 994,608 + 103,960 Unit s citstarding)
(LED Claga S0 163, 1 TE060 = 9,1 18 586 Uiz d gus fanding)

LEL ]

IT6.072 308
3,208 188
5050
179,310, 534

2P
LB, 557
185,932
B0
TZIET
36,732
13175
12901
L916
150613
L0341

17837

134,772 3G
46,504, 165

E|

%

The accampamying notes are an integral partof thess fnandal statements.
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
{Expressed In United States Dollar)

Iramiimant Incoma:
e
Total Irvestment [rosms

Espandas:
Cemribater' s loes

UsED 171
171

aTTE13

Belanagemen fees a21,17%
el ey el fashs- e s AR A O Tl 195757
Prof eminnal feed 4550
gt company's fees 45171
Truatins fwws 22,550
Tearder agant firi 15040
Regishration faes ol [
Cnhes svparaes 194 §35
Totsl Lipences L0, 108
et Invveits e Ledigd !1E!ﬂ
Realized and Unreslised Gaint/[Larre):
Poaliped gara o)
st eeni 5 Sabes of Undwerlying Fund 13133627
Fodmnpn cus revy 1P At iond b0 forwsed §onsl gn curniney st irgs Cont et i 208,555
Hot reakiped gans 1L034 057
Tharge 5 uncesl sed apprecstionfdep ]
gt et s i Uinglarping Fund MLORT TG
Foseign ournency transiations snd forward fionsign oumency machange contrans ;RE.HBE
Fieg change in unraslined oo predaticn 0,005 B
Mge raalied and unisadsed gaing F R
Mt Incraane im nat 33wty resuking from cperetions LIS 18,

The accampamying notes are an integral partof thess fnandal statements.
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF CHAMNGES IN NET ASSETS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
{Expressed In United States Dollar)
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Incrasss (Daoreare] in ek &evake from:

‘Oparationa:

Maf irvesment it

et reaiaed guns

Hiet chaerpe i unresliced apprepiEn

et i@ i nEt Fiset i rensling dram opecsdiong

CapRal Transschinne:

Urat s immied
W Hediged Ciwin {34, 383 UinRg)
LS Do 5, 808 FHT Un 5]

L i
Y Hedged Cers {126,567 Unas]
U0 Cuss |4, 043 533 Unis]
I (P i AR S TRt g e et al Br BRI OrE

Tetsl Inerame I Mot fudetd

Nat Arrete
Baginning of peer
Ered of yow

i 12, %49.935)
11,004,062
5,605,844
LASL0ET]

A 838,137
L0163, g0

(38 13 0633)

[&7, 303,871
0557623

—TE

|36, T, B0 T

LED  1TR.276. 400

The accampamying notes are an integral partof thess fnandal statements.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

ORGAMLEATION

TRP U Core Grovth Equity Fund [ihe “Fund”) B 2 series trust of the: Nikke AM Offshore Funds, an open-ended enit tnest
established by a supplemental tnast deed dated May 14, 2018 [ihe “Supplermental Trust Beed”], under tha laws of the
Cayman Idands. Kikka AM Offsthore Funds was established by a master trust deed dated October 15, 2012 (the “Master
Trust Deed”), Lncer the lws of the Cayman isbands and is licensed with the Cayman Slands Monetary Authority pursiant
o section S[1}{a) of the Mutua] Funds Law (2005 Bevision]. The Fund commisncoed operations on June 28, K18,

The Fund's #ssets are managed on 3 day-to-day basis by Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited {the “Mansger”]. The Manager
delegatas imestment managamen dutles o Nkko Aset Management Co., ttd, {the “investment Manager]. The
Irmsestment Manager may delegate respondibility for the management of the imvestiment and re-imvestment of certain parts
of the Funds imvestment portfolio to other Iraestment managers. The acmanistration of the Fund s delegated to Brown
Barethars Marriman & Co {the “Custodian” and “Sub-Administrator”], a Emited parnership organized under the Lews of the
State of Maw York,

Brgrarn Brothers Harriman & Co, (P88H") has entered into an agreemsnd with State Street Corporstion {"5tate Saresi™)
under which State Street will aoquire B8H's Imerstor Services business; whidh inchsdes its oustody, fund accourding and
adorinistration, trarsfer agency, depositeey, Toreign excharge, trustee and securities lergling serviops. The tramsaction is
wpecied 1o bo completed i the third guarer of 2022, subgect to customary closing ronditions and regulatory approvals.

The imestment objective of the Fund is to achiese growth in the vahse of units over the long teom by imassting into a fung,
whach ireests mainly in 3 diversified portiolio of stocks of large end medium sited “blue chip” companies in the Ursted
States.

Under the terms of the Sepplemaental Tust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, FirstCarbbean tntermational Bank and Toust
Company [Cayman) Lemited [the =Trustee” and the =Administirator”} is named as Trustes of the Fund,

The Mapager apposnted Mitsubishs UF) Morgan Starbey Seourities Co,, Ltd fo 221 as Agent Company (the “Agent Company”)
and to act as Distributor (the “Distribetor”) of Units in apan,

SUTAMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Ther Furd ks an investment Company that follows the accounting and reponing guidance in FASS Accounting Standards
Cogeficmion 946

L of Estimeleg

The accoimpamying financial statements have been prepaned in accordarce with accounting principles generally accepted in
the Upited Saates of America | U5, GAAPT), The greparation of Rrendal statement s in bocordane with L5 GAAP requanes
the Furd's marsgement 1o make estimates and assumptions that alfect the reported amaunts of assats and Habilinkes and
dischrsures of corfingent assels and liabilities ot the date of the fnancidl stslemerts and the reported amourts of
rEven s and eapenses during the reporting period, Actual results, induding the ultimate amourt realized upon the sale of
fair vahued imvestments, codd differ from those estimates and such differences may ba significam.

Bokit of Accaurtiing

Security and contraciual ransacteons are recorded on a trade/contract-date basis, interest income s recorced on an
effpstion yiekd basis, net of sty applicatde withholding B, nterest mpense and other pxperses are fecorded on an scorual
bash, Realied gairs and losses froe secunty transactions are computed on the basis of the serage cost of the securities
sold of covered, Changes in the walustion of imestments aie remrded an the Statement of Operstions a5 unreslized
AP ECIFEDN of Ceprecation

Wik tion of imveshmenis

IFeistmerts in ather Evestrment companies (“hedge funds™] e valusd on the bedis of the Net Adet Value ["NAV"] per
share s reported by the acemiristratons of those entities 81 the measurement date bised upan policies and proosdunes
pdopted by the Fund. In cases whers e Fusd eould in the nenmsl course of Busingss redesrm its undedying imesiment,
such imvestments are generally valued 3t the net asset valuations proviced by The adminisirators of those entities,

Ir cases weihere the Furd is urable 1o redmeen its underlying irvestmren, such nvesiments in portfolio funds are also valued
at the net asset valuations provided by the administrators of those entities, provided that the undedying portfolio funds
have caloulated their met assed valustions in sooordence with scouring measuremant guidance which is applizable to
imvestment companies &g Evastments within sudh underlying imvestment companies have been fair valued in accordance
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

SUTARIARY OF SIGNIRCANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continued)

Virkurtion of tmeeshmends (contimued)
with applicable US GAAP, unkew the immestment Manager determines thad such @ valuation would not be the most
appropriate indicator of fair value, in which case the irvestment would be Taar vabued by the Imastmert Manager,

In accordance with the authoritathe guidance on fair value measurements and disclosures under LS. GAAR, the Fung
dischoses the fair value of its imvestments in a bierardhy that prioritizes the inputs 1o wluation techniques used to measure
the fajr value, The hierarchy gives the highest priority 1o valuations based upon unadiusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical atsedt or Kabilities {leved 1 measurement) and the lowest priority 1o waluations bazed wpon unobienable
inpruts that are significant 1o the waluation (Level 3 measurements). The puidance establishes three levels of the fair value
hiezarchy a5 follows:

= Level ] = inputs thet reflest uradiuoted quated prices in sctive markess for identizel irvestmerts that the Furd
has the ability to acceds at the meanrement date;

*  Level 2 = imputs other than guoted prices that are significam and observable for the asset or liabiity efther
cirectly or indirectly, inchuding inputs in markets that are not considened to be active:

L Lewed 3 = Inputs that are significant and unolberesble.

Iryputs dre wiied i Bpplying the various valuation techriguies and beosdly refier 1o the acmmplions thet marked paelicipants
et make vabuation dedisions, inchuding assumptions about risk. mputsmay inchede peice information, specific and broad
onehit dine, lpidity Slatistics, and other factors, A fnarsial instrumert’s level within the fair value Ferarchy B based upon
the lowsst leved of any input that is tignificant to the fair value measuement. Moweser, the detenminztion of wha
oormtitutes “obiervable” reguires significant pdgment by the irneitment Manager. The imvestmert Manspsr consicders
obs orable data to be market dats which i readily sailable, regularly distribated or updated, reliable and verifiable, not
proprietany, and provided by independent tourtis that are sctively involved in the rdevant msrket. The categonization of 2
finarcial irstrurment within the hierarchy is based upon the pridng trarsparency of the instrument and does no? necesarnly
oaftetpond fo the mestmert Mensger s porceived ik of that irstrument.

Ierwesibirierts whde wabued are baded dn the quoted market priced in Sotee markets, dnd therefore didified within Level 1,
would indude actively traded pouities, cerfain LS govemnmert and soversign cbligations, and certain: money markes
securities. The vestment Manager would nat adjest the guoted price for such inttruments, eoen in situations where the
Fursd held a lange position and a sale could reasonably impact the guoted price.

Imsestmemts that tracke in markets that are not corsidened fo be adive, but ame walued based on guoted market prices,
dissler quetations or slternstice pricing wources supparted by obtervable inpats ane dlassified within Level 2. Thess include
imestment-grace debt seourities, short-term vestments and forward forelgn oumrency exchange comtracts, As Level 2
imestments include positions that ane not traded in active markets andfor are subjedt to trarsfer restrictions, wluations
may be adjusted 1o reflect WEquidity and/or non-trarsfersbiity, which are generally based on pailible market information,

Irvestimerds dassified within Level 3 kuve significan? unobservable npats, 8s they would trade infrequently, Levsl 3
imtruments would indude awet-badked seourities and collateralired mortgage obligations. Ax obterable prices are not
irvailable for thode securitien, the Fund would uie valuaSon tedhnigues 1o deriee the fair vabue

Thie inputs or methadokogy wied for valuing Lecurities ane not necEssanilly an indication of the risk avodrbed with irnesting
in thorse seourities.

In actordance with AS0 21507, the Fund's imeestment @ other invesiment ompanies has ot bem cotegoiced in the
fair wahue Fiivardhy forin & foll Forwand of iFveitment Sdhity.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

SUTARIARY OF SIGNIRCANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continued)

Warluztion of imvesments fooatimued)

The following table presents the fimendal instraments cardied on the Statement of Avsets and Liabslities by caption and by
lved wathin the valuation bserarchy as of Decembar 31, 3021, Funher dassifications of the finandal lrstruments are
presented in the Portfolio of Imestments,

Hrpatz ot Fair Value Fair Valem at
Larvall Ll 2 Leval 3 Ceoember 31, 3021
Forward Forsgn Cuerency
Enthirps Contraati LD = LSOy 500 LISy - LD 5,080
Total LD = LD S L0 = A0 5050
Lishimies o4 Falr Valie Fair WViakis 51
Loved 1 Lovel2 Lol ¥ Beoamber 31, HidL
Forward Forsgn Curency
Ewphirepe Contrad 4 o = (1] | LB5.59z) D - LD (18593F)
Total LIS - D [T - LSO [1h5 sl

Guring the year ended Cecember 31, 2021, there were no trarsfern in or out of Level 3. The Fund's policy is to determine
levellng dnd diess ol trandfers ad at i yedr ond date.

Foreign Currenty Transfolion

Assnts and labilities held in currendes other than United States Dollar {"U50° or the “Functional Cunrency™] are trangdated
ter the Functional Currency 2t the rate of exdhange prevailing at the financial staterment date income and expenses are
translated af the rate of eschange prevailing at the date on which the income or expense s incurned. Realized and
uriealized gaint snd botse griting on forsign currency framsactiont ane inchuded in the Statement of Operations in the
i in wehich they ooowr,

The Furd does not solate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in forelgn exchange rates on
imestments from the fuctuations arising from changes in market prices of securities held. Such flucheations are induded
with the ret reglived 2rd unresliced gan of ks from investments

Iacome Texes

Under the cunrerd laws of the Cayman idandy, these are no income, withholding, capital gains or other taxes payable by
the Furd, 0 certain jurisdiction: ather than the Cayrmen islands, foreign tawes may be withhold 8 source on dividends and
intenest receiied by the Furd. Capital gains derived by the fund in such juriscictions generally will be exeampt from foreign
incorme of withholding taces ot souree. The Fund intends to conduct ity afairt sudh that i will rot be subjedt toincome tax
in ary jurbdiction. As a result, no provision for income taaes has been made in the financial statements, Unitholders may
e 1amed o thedr proportionste share of the Fund™s tax basis incorme bated on their individusl circumstances.

The Fund follows the authoritatiee guidance on acounting for and disdosure of uncertainty in fax positions [Financial
Arcounting Sandards foard (“FASE"] « Accounting Standards Codification 2], which reguires the Menager to determing
whether a tix poiition of the Fund i$ more Bely than rot fo be suitaned upon examination by the applicable taxing
authority, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the tedhnical meriss of the position.
Far tan positions mesting the more [#ely than not thoeshold, the tan bmefit recognized in the firendal stitemoents is
recuiced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent Blelibood of being realized upon uimate et thement
with the relevart fawing authority. The Manager has determined that there it minimal or ro efect on the financial
statements being under this suthortative guldance,

Forword Fareign Cumemcy Excfange Comtrocts

The Fund may enter im0 {orward forsign asrenoy exchange contracts to hedge agoirst foreign currensy exchange rate
risks on all or a portion of non-USD denominated imaesiments or for efficient portfolic maragement purposes, When
entering into a forward fonsgn curnency exchange contract, the Fund agress o receive or deliver a fioed gquantity of
foreign cumency for an agreedaupon price on an agreed future date, These contracts are vahsed dally, and the Fund's net
equity therein, representing unreslised uwn:i.ltiun.l'ld:plﬂ:iu‘.i:tl on the comracis a3 meaiueed by the difference
betwenn the forward forelgn currency sxchargs rtes at the dates of ertry into the contracts and the forsard rates at the
reporting date, it induded in the Statement of Aswets and Lishilities. Realimed and unrealiesd gaing and losses ane included
nthe Statement of Operations,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

SUTARARY OF SIGNIFPCANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continued)

Forwind Foreign Curnemcy B frarmge Comtrocts {oombineed ]

These instruments ireshee market risk, credit sk, or both kirds of risks, in excess of the amownt recognired in the
Statement of Assets and Liabilities. fisks anise from the possible inability of counterparties 1o meet the tenrs of their
oontracts and from movement in ourrency and seourities values snd irterest rates. 0 addition to the Qass level hedging.
the Fund had realized gain of LSD 4260 on 13 forward fomign aavency exchangs contracts during the year with an
average notional of USD 1000637 and an average term 1o maturity of 9 days, The Fund had net realized loss of USC
2,098,632 on 448 fpreard foreign aarency exchange comracts held at the JFY Hecged Class level during the year with an
average notional of USG 11,378,112 and an aversgn term 1o matunity of 31 days.

Cos oo Forefgn Currency
Cash and foreign currendy comprises all curtincy held with Brown Srothers Harriman & 05, snd cwernight sod ather short
term placements with ot hor financial institutions,

IFVESTVIENT 1N THE LINDERLYING FLND

Thee Fund shall primarily invest in shares of US Blue Chip Equity Fund [the “Underlyirg Fund”}, a sub-fund of 7, Rowe Frice
Fursds SICAV, a todifte dlirmestivaement & capital varisble [*30A ") establithed urder the lows of Lusermbourg. The SICAY
qualifies a5 an Undertaking for Collective immestment in Transferable Securities (SUCITS") under Part 1 of the Luxembourg
law of Becember 17, 2010 on undertakings for collective imaestment (the "200 Law™] and is registered on the offical list of
collective invesiment undertakings maint 2ined by the Commission de Suneeillance cu Secteur Finander (05567

The: bjectir of the Underdying Fund is 1o inorease the value of its shanes, over the lang term through growth in the vabue
of ity imvesiments, by Imeeiting mairly in a diversified portfolio of stocks of large and medium sized “Bue chip® comparies
i the Urdted States.

Specically, the Underlying Fund invests prmarily in ecuity and equityselated seourities of companies that ane either
incorporated in the United Sates of America or concuct most of their beiness there, that hawe a market capitalisation
etual o o grestes than the cmparies in the Russell Mid-cap Index or S&P Mid-cap 400 Indes, and that hove o leading
market position, seatsoned managemont and sirong firarcial fundamentals. Types of seourities may include oommon
stocky, preferred slocks, warthrtd, American Depodriony Receiptd [TADRE"), Eurdpean Depoditony Aeckipls (E0PA") and
Global Gepository Receipts [TGORs")

In seeking to achinve the Underlying Fund's objective the Underlying Fund may also imeest, on an ancillary basis, in other
!Hp‘ﬂz securities a1 described in s proapecius, thiz may ndude ﬁm wecurities from other courtries, to mone than &
limited extent.

The Underlying Fund may wse derivatives Tor hedging and efficent portfolio maragement,

The Undesking Fund's finandal statements are prepared under generally acorpted accounting principles in Lusembourg
and the acoourting policies of the Underlying Funds are substantislly cormistent with thowe of the fund. Units of the
Urderhdng Fund may be redesmesd on each Susiness Day,

LRITS.

The net assess of the fund are divided Imo JPY Hecged Class Unis and USD Class Units, The Uinits ane denominaled in
lapanede Yen and United States Collar, [PY Clads Units and USS Class Units are available 10 an digible irvestor who i$ any
person, conporation or emity which is not {] a “US vestons”™ (as defined below); (8] @ person or entity resident or
domidled in the Capman slands [exduding any object of a dharifable tnst or power or an exempted of poneesidens
Cayeran idands company], {ill) unable to subscribe for or hold Units without violating applicabls lawes: and {B] a custocian,
nomines, or trustes for any person, conporation of entity cesoribed in (1] to (6] abowe, or such other persons, corporations
o entities a5 determined Trom time to time by the Manager, with the approwal of the Trusiee,

Wihile all or substantialy all of the assels of the Fund may be held In LS. Dollars, it s imended for the Furd 1o enter into
hedging arrangements for the benefit of JFY Hedged Cass Units, which are denominated in apancse Yen, Thoe
arrangements will be to hedge against adverse movernents of the currency of denoranation of the imestments in the
Series Trust relative to Yer. Any profity, gains, losses, costs, income and expencifure asodated with such hedging
arrangements will be borne by 7Y Hedged Class Units,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continuead)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

LPNITS continuwed)

For the year ended Decerrber 31, 2021, the notioral exposure on the JFY Hecged Clss forward currency eachange
oomtracts approsimated the average net assets for 1PY Hecged Class being net long JFY and short USC. Open contracts at
yirar end ane disdosed n the FortTolis of imeesterents.

The Manager may determing 1o issue ore of more classes of Units of the Fund without preor natice 10 or written comsent of
the Unithalders.

All of the net assets attributable to JPY Hedged Class Unigs and WSO (ass Units ane held by one Unitholder,

#‘Vlllﬁdﬂllrl UED Clare Tt sl Fund

Balance w Decenbar 31, 2020 UsD 2RE7L564 LED 113,437,243 LSO 135 798,507
Sub-scriptions dunng the year 4808197 101, 163,555 108 592 13
Aidgmptions durifgg L ha pood {18, 130.633] §E7,303,871] (85,434 504)
et i innet asset s ieaadiing from operdiong 1.ﬂﬂ‘ﬂ 11'.53'-'.59_'9 1&959.&
et Aoty &t Decembar 31, 3071 [ 15,308,340 USD 163 375,080 S0 178 376,800
Hhumber of UinRs i i it Dt iber 31 3020 196,653 TITRILE TATETEG
Uit sosued during the ear 34,553 5,804, Xxr SEI2E15
Unieg rediim &d S0 ing tha yeee [lI‘E.i‘G_FI I'-l..IH’El.S-ES_I 14 iTS 8RS
B beer of Unfis i issue o Decemiber 31 2021 103, 93 RIS 8,333 518
et At Vislie g Linit o Dol B 30, 2021 LED LA53S =D irm

Subscriplions for Unnits

US0 Class Units were subsoribed for by Eigble imesiors during the Iritial Offer Period a1 the mnitial purchase prce of USG
OO0 per Uit 187 Hedged Class Units were subseribed for by Elgible imvestors duting the initial OFfer Period at the initial
purchase price of JPY 10,000 per Unit, The Initial Offer Persod commenced on June 18, 2018 and ended on June 27, 2018 In
mddition o tha subscrigtion price, the applicent shall pay a sales charge cloulated at up to 3% (exduding any fax
applicable] of the purchase price, (0 the Cimtrbuton There wene ro sales chadges pald durng the year ended December 31,
Hrf

Curing the initial Offer Pericd, the minimum subscription for USE Class Units per subscriber was 10 Units or mone, and in
multiples of 1 Unit thereafier. During the initial Ofer Parsiod, the minimem irtial subscription for JPY Hedged Class Unies
per subscriber was 1 Urdt or more, and in multiples of 1 Units thereafter,

On and after the initial Closing Day, the minimum subsoription for USO (ass Units per Unitholder s either 10 Units or
e, and in mulliples of 0L001 Units cheneafer o LS 100, and in madliples of USD 0.00 therealier, On and afier the
Initial Closing Cay, the minimum: ssbsorigtion for [FY Hedged Class Units per Urdtholder b either 1 Unit or mone, and in
rultiples of 0001 Urits theveafber o JFY 10,000 and i mulliples of 1Y 1 thereafier,

Thir Marager may wanee o change the minimum nitial and sdditional subscription amounts set forth above @ its sole
discretion from time 1o time.

Linit Redempiions

Thar Fund fecoghings rederplions n sccordance with the suthoriiative puadance on distinguishing Bxbdities from eouity,
Rederngitions, whether expressed as United States Dollar, lpanese Yen or Units, are recognized as Babilit les when each of
the jopenese Yen ard United Stetes Dollad Unit arrourts recuested in the redemplion potice becomes fined, which
gererally may ocour ether at the $me of the receipt of 1he notice, or on the last day of a flszal year, depencing on the
nature of the recuest. As 8 result, redemptions paid after the end of the year, but besed upan year end net a5sets are
reflecied &5 redemprtions payable a1 December 31, 2021, There were USD 52,037 ard JPY nil of redemprions payable &5 ¢
December 30, 2021 incheded &8 P ayalde for Uit redeemed in the St tement of Assets and Lisbilties

Regurchase of Units
Uridts may be repunchased at the option of Unitholders on each Repurchase Day {rreans each Valuation Day, or such other
day or days as the Mareger may from time to time determing in respect of the Series Trust).

Uritholders wishing to have Units repurchased must send a completed Repurchase Notice to the Distributor 5o as o be
recehved by the Distributor ne later than 3.00 pan. (Tokys time] on the relevant Repurchase Doy, The Distrlwtor will send
the completed Reporchase Notices to the Sub-Administrator by no later than 00 pom, (Tokye time) on the relevant
Repurchase Doy of by such other tere 25 the Sub-Adminisinator may in any particulsr case determine,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

LIS {continwed)

Repurchase of Units fcomiinueed)

1ff thee relpeant Repurdhase: Noticoe is not recedved by the Subeadministrator by the relevant time, the Bepurchase Motioe will
be held over uriil the nest Repurchase Day and Uniis will then be redeemed at the relevant repurchase price applicable on
that Aepurchase Day, in the ewent dither the day after the relevant Cealing Cay or the day falling two days after the
relevam Dealing Day B a cay on which barks of stock exchanges in Japan are not open for nommal business, any
Repurchase Notice received on such Dealing Day, shall not be acocepted and instead, wall be acoepted on the nest Cealing
Dy,

A Repurchase Notice, once ghien, o inresocable,

Compulsory Redempiion

In the ewent that the Trestes or the Marager shall determine that any Unkts of any class of 3 Fund ane being held by or for
the benefit of a person who i not an Bigible imvestor for such Furd or that such holding vould cause the Trust or the Fund
to be reguired 10 register, be subject to 122 or vicdsie the Bws of any jurisciction, or If the Trustes or the Manager has
reatan to doubt the begitimacy of the scauroe of monied wed to fund the wbsorption o purchase of such Linits, or for
whatever reason which may not be disclosedt by tha Trustee or the Manager 1o Unitholders) that the Trusten or the
Manager confiders appropriate at its abmolute disonetion hiving regard 1o the imterests of the Unitholders of the relevant
Class or the Unithalders of the Fund as a whole, then the Marager, after consultation with the Trustee, may direct the
holder thereof to sell (subjed to the provisions destribed below in the section headed "Tramsfer of Urits®) such Units
within 10 days and provide 1o the Trestes and the Marager evidencoe of such sale, falling which the Marager may redensm
such Units.

Teminalion of e Fumnd
Upan termination, the Marager will realize all the assets of the Fund, and afler paying out of retaining adequate provision
for &b liabslities propey payable and retairing provision for the costs of the termiration, the Trustee shall distribute the
proceeds of that realization to the Unitholders proportionately 1o thew respective interests in the Fund as of the date of
termination of the Fund,

DeteBatons fo Uindbolders

The Marager may, from time o time, in its sole ciscretion, declare distributions from May 2009, Distribution will ba
declared arnudly on each Distribadion Recond Cate and caloulated on ebdh Ex-Distribution Date. Ditribution Pedod is 3
peviod correnendng from the calendar day following the preceding Cistribution Record Date and ending on and inchiding
the Distribution Record Date. The dietributions will ba paid on the rdevart Di=tribuotion Payment Cate, provided that such
amaunt [if any] dedared with respect 1o the relevert Class of Urits in respect of the applicable Disteibution Perid shall
aly bt peed Gut af the Furd®s et incosrs, realizesd snd wirsblined capital gains drd iy didtrbutable funds of the Fund
atiribwstable 10 such Chass of Linits 35 getermaned by the Manager.

The dedaration of distributions 1o Lnithobders reduens the Class Level Nt Asset Vilue per Lini withou! ary corepanding
charge 1 the rumber of (lasa Lewel Urits per Unitholder. This results in a8 Unitholde's overall irvestment in the Fund
beang recuced. n addition, any cevributions during @ peniod which are in exoess of the Fund's pel increase in net assets
resnlting from operatioes results i partion of the distribution being return of capital,

The amount of distributions, if any, will be detenmined by the Manager in its tole discretion, and no representation or
purarintes B made that o ditribution will be made in fespect of each of any Distribution Pedod,

Copitalization

The Net Asset Value per Unit is caloulmed for each Dealing Day (each Valuation Diy, of such other day of days as the
Manager rdy from time to tene detearine in réspec of the Fund), by drading the differencs n value betwesn the Furd's
wrsupts arsd linbalthes [Encluding accrued fees and expenses of the Fund) by the nuirber of Units sat staring.

The Tt Desd sipulstes that tha bt oof Lirdts 10 be issued in the Fund shall be selinited 85 the Marsger shall
determine and shall be without par value.

DERMATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Aocounting Standard Codification {ASC] 815-10-50 requines disclosures about derivatie instruments and hedging activities.
Itrequires that the Fund disclose: 2] how and why an entity uses derivative instraments, b] how derbathe irstrumants and
related hedged items are acoounted for and ) how derfivative instrument i and related bedged tems affect an entity's
finarcial postion, finardal performance and cash flows,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

DERTVATIVE FINARCIAL INSTRUBENTS {continued)

The Fund trarsacts fonwand deriative nstruments primandly for hedging purposes with each instroment™s primary risk
exposure being foreign exchange sk, The forwand foreign ourfency exchenge comreas bed by the Fund do not cualify os
hedges for accounting purposes Lnder the requinements of ASC 815, The fair value of these dervative Imstruments s
included in the Statesment of Assets and Liabilties with changes in fair value reflected as realived gaing/{kosses) or net
charge in unreakred appreciation/{depreciation] on derivatiees within the Statement of Operateans (Note 2),

The Fund may enrfer info an intemational Swaps and Derbatie Assedation, Ine Master Agreement %1504 Masier
Agresrment™] with its counterparties in order fo mitigate countenparty rige The SDA Master Agresient i typicilly
negotinted by the Fund and its counterparties, confaming the bi-laseral tenrs and conditions Tor all subsequent derbatie
transsetiond. The (S04 Masier Agrecment allows faf the petling of all amounts seed 1o of due rom courdempany into &
sirghe et payment il 8 cred everd or defaul should scour.

Thir Furd has dected 1o not offset fair value recenables and payables for dervative contracts on the fece of the Statemen
of Assets and Lisbilizies,

it December 31, 2021 the Fund had entered into the fallowing derratine astets by counterparty net of smourts svaidable
for offset under a Master Netting Agresment [“MNA") and net of any collateral receneed by the Fund

Dierivt b Boneti D bk P *h (= 1]} Bt Am ount of
Eountarparty Subject to.a MNA_dvallabls for OFfrat Collstaral Racebred Collstoral Bncabed Darhratho frrats!
Q=i PR LEyin] S 80LUED L5, LD = LISEH =R 150 =
Tensl S0 5 80 UsD mjl.lﬂ} ~UsD - WED -

At Decarber 31, 2021 the Fund had entered into the followirg derfvatien labilittes by counterparty net of amounts
rrvdilable for of et under 8 MM Brd net of By collatersl pledged By the Furd:

D arwtive Tt Ampsant of
Caunterparty Listsiiet D vt L] h Cwibky Derkative
Sabjoct to s MNA Availabls For Offiet Collatersl Madged Collataral Madied Liabdliias
O=i B Li] ) 185,392 5D {5, D0 UsD = IS0 = LIS 5B, 3032
Total Um o (5090} UsD -Us0 -uso_ wose

L PuE S bt b U Aot Sttt Peomsvibia o vble from She cOUSSRBa Ty 1 Dh Bvmnl oF Bt

At December 31, 2021 the Furd had ent ered into the following dedbatives

Ay nut Bwribvathoan Ushility Dorkatives

Derbrative Ststement Statement

Nat Acepunted for ap of vty and wof freets and

wmm: Linbilniss Loation Fair Vakie Lighiities Locwtion Fair Valus

Forward foreign oarrency  Uinngshiped appreo stion Lrwgaled depreciation

vachange contracts on tormard Foraign o Porwaed formgn

{Currency Risk] curnancy e han g S0 S0 ourrency sxchenge (£ a] HLER
COfATECES COMracts

Tha eff ect of gemaagoeingiruments on the Statementof Oparatons for the yerr ended Decamber 31, 2021

Crerbvmtbes Mot
Saeepurted Leeation of Reslined Chisrge in Urraakoed

ter a1 Hadging Gain or [Laat) Gain or (Leat) Appreciation or {Deprecationg on
Inatbrum ey on Dertvathad an Dartvathoed Darheathes

Bt reaiied boss on foeward foreign
Farward borbign eurtity  oufrianty dachings Contras
eschange contragts dharspe mounrealiped deprenat icon gn Terward
iCurrency Rk e gn fusTancy excharge contracts [ u] (L0944 97 LED |Zzamy
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

TANAGEMENT FEES

The Mansger it entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund o menagement fee of 2 total of wp 1o (L28% per annwm
{CLCAH per annum in respect of the fee for the Manrager and 0.25% per annum for the portion of the Net Asset Value up to
U0 250 milliown, 0.248% per annum for the portion of the Net Asset Value ower USD 250 mrillion wp b U35 500 million and
.22% per annum for the portion of the Net Asset Value over LSS 500 million in respect of fer for the Irvestmend
Manager) of the Net Ascet Walue acorued on, and caioulited &8 st, sach Vabustion Day and payable monthly in anmess. in
addition, the Manager is abio entitled to be reimbursed oot of the assets of the Furd for any expenses inounned by it in the
proper perfonmencs of its powers and duties a5 por mit ted wunder the Master Trust Deed.

Curing the year mded Deceerber 31, 2021, the Manager earned foet of USD 820,126, of which LSO 36,722 i «till
outstanding as of Deoamber 31, X121,

The Manager will pay the fees of the investment Manager out of its fees. The Irvestment Manager will be responsible for
paying the fees of any of its delegetes or other parties appointed by the rvestment Marager to perfonm its functions in
respect of the Fund; provided, hawever, the Irvestment Manager may charge a tramsaction fee on the subscriptions and
recempticns of shares of the Underlying Fund.

CUSTODAAN AN SUIB-ADRIM STIRATOR'S FEES

The Fund has 3 custody and accounting agresment with Brown Brothers Haniman & Co (the “Custodian™ and “Sub-
Administrator” ) for which the Custodian recefaes a fer caloulated and pald monthily based on fotal assets and transaction
il

The Custodian amd Sub-Admsnistrator is entitled to recsive oul of the assets of the Fund an admiristration fee [induding
transfer agent fee) on the Net Asset Value acorued on, and cloulated a3 o, each Vahation Cay af the following anral
rate

- 0T up 1o (ard inchaing] W50 250 mallion;

- DLOE up 1o (ard inclheding] USDS00 mallion;

= LOS e LSO SO0 millean,

Such admiristration Tew is payable monthly in arrears, and subgect 10 the minimum annual fee of USD BL000, The Sub-
Administrator i also entitled o recsiee out of the assets of the Fund fess for currency adeindstration and execution
services at the rate of 0L.05% por annum of the Net Asset Value of the redevant Lnit @ass, subgect 1o the minimum anrual
fee of LISD 50,000, In addition, the Custodian snd Sub-Adminisiraton is slso entitled 1o receine customary 58 fekeeping foes
and transaction charges. All out-of -pocket expenses of the Custodiam and Sub-Adminisirator shall also be borne by the
Fursd. During the yeof ended December 31, 2021, the Cotodian and Subr-Administrator earmed fees of LUSD 195,797, of
wisch U503 186,697 bs sl outstarding a5 of December 31, 2021

TRUSTEE FEES AND ADSAINISTRATOR'S FEES

Thir Tewstee is entithed 10 pecaie out of the assets of the Fund a combaned Tee 3% the rate of 0.015% per arnuem of the Net
Aasnt Value dctrued on, and caloulated a4 a1, sach Valubtion Diy ard payable quarterly in amesrs, subject to 8 sminimum
anmiaal fen of USD 15,000, Duing the year ended Deceenber 31, 2021, the Trustes earned fees of USD 22,560, of which USD
19,125 is still patstancing as of December 31, HI21L

AGENT COMPANTS FEES

Thar Agent Corrpany b entitled 10 receive out of the assets of the fund a fer at the rate of 0.05% per annum of the Net
Assat Valee aconued on, ard calcilated s al, esch Valudtion Dy ond payable quaniedy in arrears, During the year ended
Gecember 31, 2021, the Agert eamed Toes of USD 45,121, of which USD 12,901 i 51l outstanding as of December 31,
221

HSTRIBUTIOR'S FEES
The Ditribator is entitled to recefve out of the assets of the Furd a fee at the rate of 0653 per anrem of the Nt Asset
Vahie aconied on, and caloulated as at, each Valuation Day ard payable quarterly in arrears. During the year ended

December 31, 2021, the Cistributors sarned fees of USD 977,613, of which USD 2035 s still sutstanding a5 of December
3, 2021
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

OTHER FEES AND EXFENSES

Thi costs and expenses in connectkon with the establishment of the Fund ard the offering of the Unis, together with the
esablishment of the Trust, inchading the codts and expenses of preparing and printing any prospectus o explanatory
brodhures reguired, are estemated to amownt to approdimately USD 140,000, Such costs and expermes willl be amortised
within the first five (5] finandal years of the Fund wnless the Trustee decides that some other method shall be applied. The
Admindstrator receives USD 1,500 per anmem for FATCA / GRS complianoe servces,

The Undertying Fund i entitied 1o recetes out of the 2ssets of the Underlying Fund, a fee at the rate of 0654 per annum of
the Net Asset Value of the Underlyirg Fund,

FINARNCLAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund’s activities expose it to awardety of fnandal risks: madoet risk (indoding price risk, interest rate risk, and ourrency
disk), eredit disk and liguidity risk

Marked Rk
Al irsestirents present a risk of loss of capifal. The Irveshment Manager moderates this risk through a careful selection of
sefuritied and oibher firencisl instrumernts.

The Fund’s irmvestment minagamient prooedd i described i Node L The primary determirdnt of the Fund's ability to mest
its objective of mid o long tenm capital appreciation while ing income s dependent on the peformance of the
immestmemntin the Underlying fund.

The walues of the Fund's imvestrmients ane sffected by a number of factors, induding but nat limited to, dhanges in the wider
woonomy, finangal and currency markets, forelgn currency exchange rates ard imterest rate movements, The Fund emters
into forward comtractt which 1o warying degreses represent & market risk in meoess of the amount reflected on the fund's
Staternemt of Assets and Libilities. The notional amount of the forward contract represents the egtent of the Fund's
participation in these financial instruments, Market ricks associsted with such forward contracts arise due to the posside
mrvrnents in forel gn curmercy exchang e rates undedying these nst o

(rther marked and credit risks indude the possibility that there may be an Wiguid merket for the confracts, that the change
in the value of the contract may rot directly corndlate with changes in the value of the undeskying currendes of that the
counterparty 80 a foreard contract cefaulis on s obligation 1o perform under the terms of the contracl, The Fund's
exposune to logs due to counterparty non performance on open futunes, forwards, ssap and options contracts is imited to
the urrealined appeeciation irherent in such firandal instruments which are recognined in the Stement of Assets and
Liabilities.

Credit Misk

Credit risk represents the patential loss that the Fund would intur i€ the counterpanties, failed to perfarm purisant to the
terms of their obligatsons 1o the Fund, For exchange-traded comracts, the eschange acts a5 the counterpany 1o speific
ransactions and, therefsds, bears the risgk of defivery 1o ard freen counterpartios of speddfic positiors, The Fund's
managgiarsend coes nat corsider that oredi risk related to open derratiee contracts will heve matenial sdverse effect on the
fimarcial condition of the Fund.

Adthough the Marager moritors the Custadian and believes it to be an sppropriat e custodion, thene B ne guarantes that
this or ary custodian that the Fund may use froe time to time, will not become mnsabvent, which could fesd o kosses for
thee Fund.

While bath the LS. Bankruptoy Code and the Securities inwestor Protection Act of 1570 seck to proted customer property
in the evert of 3 failune, inschaency o Bouidation of sninstitution, thene i po corteinty that, in the event of & fadure of an
instiution that has custody of Furd asiets, the Fund would not mnour lo%ies due to B3 ssseti being urevallable for a period
of tiere, ultimetely less Shan full recovery of its msebs, or bath. Because all of the Fund's cadh is in custady with a singhe
institation, such losses could be sgrificant ard coukd materially impair the abslity of the Fursd 1o achiev its irvessm ent
objectivie The Fund is subjiect toonedit risk fo the exctent that this institution may be unabli to fulfill s abfigations to repey
MTDUNS witd,

Liroi ity Rick

Irreestars should be avwsre that the value of Units might fall 22 well 85 fise. immstment in the Fund imobass 8 degree of risk,
thee car be no assurance that the Fund's irvesiment objective will be adhieved,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

FINANCEAL RISKE MANAGEMENT [ontinued)

Liguidly Risk {continud)

The fund is exposed to daily repurchase of its Units bat management belieies that the Fund has saifficiem resounoes to
it thae prasent and foreseeable noeds of it business operations and, i necessary, the Eqadity 1o fund repurchases and
achicwe a marked position appropriately reflecting a smaller capital baze. This position is monitored continually by
managament (o ensure that the Furd has the ability 10 meet ks obligmions,

Tha Trustee, after conwization with the Marager, may suspersd the issuance ard repurchase of units and payments in
respect of such transactions in ary ciroamstances where the calculation of the Underlying Fund's Nat Asnat Value per unin
s suspended, The Trustee will inform unitholders of such 3 suspension 25 soon as practicable after & s imposed o lifted,
Subncription applications and repurchase notices cannot be withdrawn during such suspension and will be processed for
the pext Dealing date. All Unitholders of the Fund will be proseptly motified im writing of any such suspenseon and will ba
promptly notified upon termination of such suspension,

Currency Rtk

The Uit peice of LSO Qass Units is detesmined in WSO, and the Unil peice of JPY Hedged Class Units is detenmined in
lapaness Yen while the Furd s denominated in U.5 dollars. The Fund, howsver, may invest a portion, or all o, it5 assets in
oPBr Culnendes, OF N ENSEromen 1S Sencarinated in non-Japanese Yen of non-US Dollar currenses, the peates of which will
be drtermined with reference to such nor-fapanese Yon of non US Dollar cumencies. The value of the Funds assets will
Nusthuite with Japaree Yen exdhange rates 35 well 35 the price changes of its imsestments in the vidious local markets and
ourrengies,

The Fund alsa may wilize options and forward contracts to hedge agaimst cumency fctuations, but there can b no
assurance that such bedging transactions will be effective, and such fecknicues entail costs and additioral risks,

The imastment mansger monitors the Fund's cumency mposure on a daily basia,

Other Risk

I 2020, the COVID-19 owtbreak was declared a pandemic by the Woeld Health Orgarization, The situstion is dynamic with
wariows dities and countries arourd the word responding in different ways to address the outbeeak, The rapic developmens
and fuidity of this sitvation prechudes any prediction as its ultimate impact, which may hive a continued adverse impact
o econsie ard market corditions and trigper & pevead of gobel econamie Slowdown

The Trustee and Irvestmert Mansger are monitonng devclopments relaticg fo COVID-19 ard e oordineting their
operational redponte bated on existing busires comfinuity plans and on guidance from global keshh orgarizations,
releant governmants, and general pandemic response best practioes,

BORROWINGS

The Manager andfor its delegates may borrow monies for the account of the Fund provided that it will not borrow money
if, a% a result of such bomowing, the aggregate amount of outstanding borrowings effected on behalf of the Fund would,
merediately following such borrowing, excend 10% of the value of Its net assets, saove that this limit may be exceeced
temporarily for a pericd not exoeeding 12 months in special situations including, without Bmitation, a menger of the Fund
with anather series trust, imsestment fund or other type of collective imeestment scheme,

There wens no bormgwings curing the yeer ended December 31, 2021,
COPARMTRAENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the rormal course of business, the Trustee en behalf of the fund may erter into cortracts that contain a varkesy of
mpresentations and svarrarties and which proside general indemnifications, The gereral indemnifications apply not only
b the extent such representations and warranties are unimue bu! also may cover third parties such as the Furd's
Administrator, Auditor or wmnstment Manager for chims related to the serdces porformed for the Fund, The Trustes's
i exposure under ary such amangements is uknown, 85 exposure only anises 1o the extent future daims the
have not yet oooured ane made against the Trustes. H er, based on experience, the Trustes pxpects the risk of loss to
b remate.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Managemant performed a subsequent events redew up i June 8, 2022 which & the dote the finandal statements were
irvailable 1o be sued.

Effective January 1, 3127 through June 8, 3122, there were subscoriptions of U0 552670 and thore were redemptions of
UG 3,791,524 in respect of JPY Hiedged Class Urits, There were distributions of nil in respect of |PY Hecged Class Urits,

Effective January 1. 2022 through Jupe 8, 2132, there were subscriptions of USD 16,389,898 and there wene redemptions
of LD 14,613,413 in respect of LSD Class Units, Thene wern distrifngions of nill in respect of USS Qlass Units,

On February 24, 2002, Aussia lundhed a military invasion irto Gkraine. Russia’s imasion of Ulrsine camies significant risks
for @ world economy that hes yet 1o fully recover from the impacts of the global COVID-19 pardemic, The impect of the
comequential geo-political instabdity, financial market volatility, and kmposition of sanctions on the entity are not posssble
ta Forecast ot this time,
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2023
108,995,560.10 14,619,574,476
1,192,168.44 159,905,553
107,803,391.66 14,459,668,923
7,887,880
78,568
12.84 1,722

11,353
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2022 31
2022 2021
9,431,206 1,265,008 7,947,000 1,065,931
2,439,355 327,191 1,941,186 260,371
70,125 9,406 71,250 9,557
11,940,686 1,601,604 9,959,436 1,335,859
11,940,686 1,601,604 9,959,436 1,335,859
114,502 15,358 218,179 29,264
168,009 22,535 156,805 21,032
1,337,097 179,345 1,183,495 158,742
365,000 48,957
1,984,608 266,195 1,558,479 209,039
480,000 2022 31
2021 31
480,000 480,000 64,382 480,000 64,382
9,476,078 1,271,026 7,920,957 1,062,438
9,956,078 1,335,409 8,400,957 1,126,820
11,940,686 1,601,604 9,959,436 1,335,859
2022 16
129332

134.13
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2022 31
2022 2021
9,431,206 1,265,008 7,947,000 1,065,931
2,439,355 327,191 1,941,186 260,371
70,125 9,406 71,250 9,557
11,940,686 1,601,604 9,959,436 1,335,859
1 0.134 1 0.134
1 0.134 1 0.134
11,940,687 1,601,604 9,959,437 1,335,859
114,502 15,358 218,179 29,264
168,009 22,535 156,805 21,032
1,337,097 179,345 1,183,495 158,742
365,000 48,957
1,984,608 266,195 1,558,479 209,039
480,000 2022 31
2021 31
480,000 480,000 64,382 480,000 64,382
9,476,079 1,271,026 7,920,958 1,062,438
9,956,079 1,335,409 8,400,958 1,126,820
11,940,687 1,601,604 9,959,437 1,335,859
2022 16
129332
134.13

115/194



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 31
2022 2021
17,934,583 2,405,566 18,599,369 2,494,733
17,934,583 2,405,566 18,599,369 2,494,733
(2,125,733) (285,125) (1,225,898) (164,430)

(13,544,787)  (1,816,762) (15,229,787)  (2,042,771)
(245,193) (32,888) (227,557) (30,522)
(15,915,713)  (2,134,775) (16,683,242)  (2,237,723)

2,018,870 270,791 1,916,127 257,010
(98,749) (13,245) (11,500) (1,542)
(98,749) (13,245) (11,500) (1,542)

1,920,121 257,546 1,904,627 255,468

(365,000) (48,957) (182,200) (24,438)

1,555,121 208,588 1,722,427 231,029

1,555,121 208,588 1,722,427 231,029

134.13

116/194



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 31

¢ > ¢ ¢ >y > c >y )

2021 480,000 64,382 7,920,957 1,062,438 8,400,957 1,126,820
1,555,121 208,588 1,555,121 208,588
2022 31 480,000 64,382 9,476,078 1,271,026 9,956,078 1,335,409
134.13
2022 31
2022 2021
1,555,121 208,588 1,722,427 231,029
98,749 13,245 11,500 1,542
365,000 48,957 182,200 24,438
2,018,871 270,791 1,916,127 257,010
(132,044) (17,711) 909,296 121,964
171,551 23,010 (394,011) (52,849)
(475,422) (63,768) (101,297) (13,587)
1,582,955 212,322 2,330,115 312,538
1,582,955 212,322 2,330,115 312,538
7,947,000 1,065,931 5,628,385 754,935
(98,749) (13,245) (11,500) (1,542)
9,431,206 1,265,008 7,947,000 1,065,931
134.13
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2022 31
3096T
IFRS
IFRIC 2022 31
IFRS 1ASB IFRIC
IFRS  IASB IFRIC
() )
)
12
2022 31 2021 31
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12
30
2022 31
2022 31 2021 31
100
190
2022
17,934,583
2022 31
2022 2021
19 2021 19 (365,000) (182,200)
(365,000) (182,200)
(365,000) (182,200)
2022 31 2021 31
2022 2021
2021 10 21 22 1,920,122 958,983

19 2021 19

(365,000) (182,200)




2021
2021

10

441,903

2023

2022

2021

31

467,911
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2022 31
2022 31 a
( ) ( )
1,453,679 474,263
7,323,113 520,898
3,429,574 246,312
1,227,939 86,759
110,482 8,865
106,095
13,650,882 1,337,097
2021 31
2021 31 a
( ) ( )
1,422,718 120,838
8,299,627 720,942
3,786,710 210,652
1,556,076 120,670
164,656 10,393
106,470
15,336,257 1,183,495
(a
(b
(c
2022 31 80,000 2021 80,000
http://www.smth.jp/en/
2021 12 2022
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NIEEKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 MARCH 2022
Note 22 2021
USD USD

Assels
Current Assets

Cash and cash equvalents 9431204 7,247,000

Accounts receivable 2,439,355 1,941,186

Accrued moome and prepard exp age 0125 71,250
Total Current Assets 11,540,656 Q050 436
Total Mon-Current Assets - -
Total Assers 11,940,686 Q950 436
Liabilities and Equity
Current L iabilities

Accrued ecpenses and defarred mcome 114,502 218179

Acoounks payable 168,005 156,805

Armounts parable o alfltes 1,337.097 1,182495

Amounts payable to affiliates — group ta relief J65,000
Total Current Liabilities 1984608 1558479
Equity

Capital and Reserves Attributable to Equity Hokders of the

Company

Share capital (51 par vahie, 480,000 shares

athorized, 430,000 sharesizssed and  cutstanding a8 31 450,000 450,000

Barch 2022 and 2021

Eetamed eamings 2476078 7,920,957
Total Equity D98GR 8400957
‘Total Linbilities and Equity 11,540,636 99509436

The annexed nobes from 1 to # form an mtegral part of these fmancal satements

These financil statements were spproved by the Board of Directors on 16 Seplember 2022 and autheorised for 1szue and signed on
1ts behalf by

DocuSigned by:
[ OFESAFCTIREAFE

D Cruis=
Director

Company registered mumber 129332
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AS AT 31 MARCH 2022
Note 022 2021
USD USD
Acsrts
Curremt Assets
Cazh and cagh equmalents 431,206 7,947 000
Acooumts pecers able 2439355 1,841,186
Acerued income and prepand expense 0025 71,250
Total Current Assers 11,540,686 9,950 436
N Current Assets
Inw esterent in subsidiary 3 1 1
Total Hon-Current Assels 1 1
Total Assets 11,540,687 9950437
Liabilitles and E quity
Current L iabilities
Accrued expenses and deferred moome 114,502 218,179
Accoumts payable 168,008 156,805
Amounts payable to affilistes 1,337,097 1,183 455
Amounts payable to affiliates = group tax relief 365,000 -
Total Current Liabilities 1,584,608 1558479
Equity
Capltal and Reserves Attributable to Equity Holders of
the Company
Share capital (81 par value, 480,000 shases authorized,
450,000 shares 155ued and outdandmg at 31 March 2022 and 40,000 450,000
20213
Retarned eammgs PATETE 7520958
Total Equity 2,956,079 8,400,958
Total Liahilitles and Equity 11,540,687 0,950 437

The annexed notes frorn 1 to @ form an mtegral part of these fnancial gatements

Thesa fnancn| staternents were approved by the Board of Directors on 16 Septamber 2022 and authonised for 1zmue and signed on

itz behalf by
Deculigned by

EQEDTTISEAFF .
Director

Company registered ramber: 120332
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMANLTD

STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREEHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Note . | el 2021
15h 15D
Operating Revenues
Investment management and advisory fees from thind parties 4 17,934 563 18599369
Total operating rvenies 17,934,583 18599362
Cperating Expenses
Sub-advisory fets with thard parties (2,125,733 (1,225,899)
Sub-advisory fees with group undentakmngs (13, 544,757) (15,228,787)
Citheer operating and admenistrative expenses 245 193) (227 55T)
Total operabing eqenses (15.915713) (16 683 24 1)
Operating Profit 2,018 870 1916127
Other (Expenses)
Het foreign exdange (oss) (28,749 (11,5000
Total cther mcomeferpenss (FET45) (11,500)
Profit Before Income Tax 1,920,121 1904627
Incomie tax expense 5 (365 0000 (182,200
Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,555,121 1,722427
Cheer Comprehensr e Incorne for the year
Total Comprefensive Incorme for the year 1,555,121 1, 722427

All the Group®s operatsons are classabied as continuing

The snnewed notes Bom 1to 9 form an ntegral part of these favancial 2atements
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Share Eetained
Heme Capital Earnings Total
UsSh LAk K Ush
Balance at 1 April 2021 480,000 T 95T 2,400,557
Other comprehensive medme for the year - 1,555,121 1,555,121
Balance at31 March 2022 0,000 9476073 9956078

The annesed notes Form 1 4o 9 form an mtegral part of thesa Foarncis] gabements
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMANLTD

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Cash Flows Trom Operating Activities
Frofit alter tax

Adjustments for

Het foregn exchange loss

Tax charge

Cperational cash fows before movements in
workmg capital
Chnnges in operating aseets and liab Dities

(ncreaself Decreage m recerables
Incregsef (Decrease) m payables
Income tix paid

Het Cash Generated from Operating Activities

et Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, begmning of the year
Effect of exchange rate fluctustions on cash held

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of the Year

Note

128/194
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—  USD

1,555,021

S8, T4
365,000

2018271

(132,044)
171,551
(475420

1582085

1,582,955

7,547,000

(23,745}

9431206

The anneed notes Bormn 1to 2 form an edegreal part of these faaneis] gatements
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1, 722427

11,500
182,200

1916127

W05, IeE
(3%4,011)
Q00,257

2.230,115

230,115
5 628,385
{11,500

547,000
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NIEKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
KOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Note 1 - General Information

ikl AM Clobal Cayman Lid *the Company™) and 22 asbadiey (ogether “the Croup™) are moorporated ad dormzaled m the
Cayman [slands The sddress of the regdered office 15 PO Box 3090T, Ugland House, South Church Strest, Grand Cyyman, Cayrran
Isisnds The prnepal actvibies of the Group and Company dunng the vesr wene the provizion of mv estrent advice and meedment
managemnent services bo thrd parties and other growp members

Node 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Principles
The pancipal acomntmg polices adopbed are 52t cutbelow

Basis of preparation

TheOroup and Cornparry's financial statements have been prepared m scoordance with Uk-adopted imemational acoounting gandards
(UK -adopted IFF.S) and IFRIC intempretations applicsble to compantes reporting under IFRS. As at 31 March 2022, the Company had
adopted all IFREs and interpretations that had been aued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board ("LASE") and International
Financial Reportmg Interpretations Commmdtes ¢ FRICT) The sccountmg policies se out below have been spplied conngdently to all
periods presented m these fnsnceal staternents. [FRS: camprise sccambing sandards ismied by the LASE and ils predacessor body a2
well as interpretations issued by the IFRIC and its predecessorbody

In prepanng this set of fnancial daternents, the Company prepared pliusible downside scenanos such as reduction n ey enues due to
global mirket declmes resulbing from the pandemzc. The directors hive adopted the going concem basis of preparation i prepanng
these fmanicial statements for the follosing reasons: 1 the Company has sufficient capital ressrvec to with=tand several years of Josses,
1) the Cormpany has a highly hquid balance sheet with cash reserves at the year-end, and u1) the Cornpany’s fxed expenoe base 15
relatwely low. As a reml, the directors have o reasonable expectation that the Company has adequste resources to continue s
operatsons for at least 12 months from the date of these financial statements Therefore they contimae to adopt the going concem basis
in preparing theseaccounts.

Basis of consolidation

Subadianes are entities cortrolled by the Group, Contral exists when the Geoup has the power to govem the fmanasl and cperalmg
policies of an entity so asto cbtain benefits from its activities In assessmg control, the Group takes mto conmderation pobential votng
rights that are currently exencisable The acquisition date i3 the date on which contrel is transferred to the aoquirer, The financial
statements of subsidianies are neluded in the consolidated bnancial staternents froem the date that coatrol comnences unkil the date
that condrol omases Losses apphoableto the non-controlling interests in a subaidaary are allocabed to the non-controllng interests «ven
1f doing 5o cawses the non-controdling mterests o hav e & deficitbalance

New accounting standards adopted
The direchors donct consader that any new sccourthing sandards had & mabenal impact on the Cormpany in the airent year

Measurement conyention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention

Estirnates and asamaptions

The preparation of financial gatements requires the directors bo make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported for
assets and liabalibies ag st the balanee sheet dste and the amounts reparted For revenues mnd expenses during the year The nature of
estimation means that actual cutoomes could differ from those estrnates The asumplions and egtimates, which are continucushy
reviewed, are based on pat ecpenence and other factors, meluding expectations regarding hikely developments in the future At 31
Mirch 2022 and 2021 there were no malenal estomate: o assimplions

Avcounts receivahle

Accaumntsrecevable inchide amounts dus formanagement, advisory and performance fees and amounts dus from customers and others
All accounts recervable are pepayable on demand or within one year. They are recorded m the balance sheet at cod, reduced by
appropraate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts, and they are interest bearing

Accounts payahle

Accounts payable inchude amounts due for sub-advisory services and performance fees and amounts due to vendors and others. All
acoounts payable are classified according to the substance of the conbractual amrangement entered nto. They are payable on demand
or wihin one year and are recorded on the balance sheet at cost Anmounds owed to group undertalangs are unsecured, mierest free and
have no fived bermes of repayment.

Cush and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equmvalents comprise cash o banks snd i hand &nd shortdermn deposits with an onginal mahirty of three months o
legs and forerpn umenses held by the Geougr and Company. For the purposes of the cash flow gaternent, cash aned cash equivalents
conzist of cash and cagh equivalerts as defined sbove, net of cuttanding banl overdrafls

Operating revenues
Cperatimg reverues include inrestment management, myestment advisory and performance faes. Operabing revenes are measured at

the far value of the consuderation recerved or receiwable for services provided m the normal course of busmess, net of dsoounts, tral
foes, VAT and other sales related taxes
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NIEKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
KOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Principles { continued)
Operating revenues (continued)

Invesdtment sramagement and advisery fees and assocaated chargesare recogrised when the sevices concemad srerenderad Investrment
managemnent and adviscry fees are caloulated as a percentage of assets under management. Commissions are recognised on & trade
date basis, caloulated on a percentage of the mle Performance fees are recogrised m the period in which they become due and
collectable

Operating expenses
Cperating expenses are zecounted for when they become payable

Current and deferred come tax
Tax on the profit or loss for the year compnses current and defermed tax. Tax 2 recogrussd in the statement of corpreheansme income
eteept to the extent that it relates b dems recopmsed dmectly in aquity, m whach cage # 12 recopnised m agquaty

Current tax 12 the expectad (o paysble or recenrable on the towable income or losz for the year, usng (e rates enacted or aubslantwely
enacted at the balance sheet date, and sy adpustment totax payable in respect of previcusyears

The Company may utilise cument tax cradits arising on losses in cther Group entities agamst its tax charges

Draferned tax 15 the tax expected to be payable or recoverabie on differences bebween the carmying amounts of assets and labalities m
the staternent of financaal position and the comesponding bax bases used m the computation of taxable proft. Defemed tax 15 accounted
for using the statement of financial position liabality method Deferred ta lkabilities are generally recognised for all tacable temporany
differences and deferred tiw asssts are recognized to the extent that it iz probable that tawsble profite will be available against which
deductible ternporary differences can be utihized.

Foreign carrencies
The functional and presentational cusrency of the Group end Company 15 U2 dollars (8)

Transactions 1n currencies other than U3 dollars gre cecorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transadhions. AL
each balance shed date, monetary sssets and lisbilibesthat sre denommnated in foreign currencies ane retranslabed at the rates prevailmg
on the balance sheet date Non-monetary assets and habalities camrved at fair vakue that are denorminated mn formign curmencies ane
teanslated 3 the rabes prevaling at the dute when Fasr valus was determnined. Chures and logses asinng on retranslation are inchided o
net profit or loss for the pened, except for exchings differences anang on non-mondary asseds and hataldies where the changes in
Eaar walee are recogrised directly m squity.

Financlal instrurments
The vast ragority of the Company's Anancial ingrenents are cash and receivables which are mexsured at arncetised cost.

The Company has evaluated potential aredit losses on all financial assets that are measured at smorticed cost Factors considersd m
determining whether a default iz likely or possible inchude whether a payment iz overdue (and the length of that persod), any known
detenceatsion m the credit quality of a clientfoecunterparty or cther issues that could adversely affect a client’s'oounterparty’s cradit
qualiy

For fmancial assets where there 12 no known issues affecting coedit quallty, expected oredit loszes are caloulsted based on the losses
that are expected to be meurred over a rolling twebre-rmonth penod. Gaven the nature of the Company's Bnancial azsds (Le meostly
cazh atbank), there s avery bow credit rgk. The Commpiny 15 3150 consdermg thewse of money market funds to norease diversification
and further reduce credit sk

For any fmancul aceets where the contractual payment is moee than 30 days past due, the default pootion is to assume an increase m
aedit nisk Hewever, default levels in the past have beemn snmaterial and there were ne fee recerrables past due asat 31 March 2022

Investments n subsidiaries
Invezstments m subsidianes are dated in the parent company’ s balance sheel at codt bess any provisions for mgasmment

At each statement of financial posttion dabe, the Company reviews the carryng amounts of its investments to deterrmine whether

there iz any indication that thoee assets have suffered impairment 15 any =uch indication exists, the recorerable smount of the
invedtment is eimated m order to determme the extent of any impaiment
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMANLTD
NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
Note 3 - Investment in Sub sidiary

Ab 31 Murch 2022 and 31 March 2021 the Company had an e estment of $1. In the opanicn of the drectors, the Cormpany’ 5 mvestment
15 nct mpamed Details of the mv estment are as follows:

HNumber, class and

Coumtry of percentage of shares
Trpnctan —ncorportion  Princhpaladiviy —held by the Company,
Mikdco AM (Cayrran) Ltd Cl'ﬂf";‘:"; General partner 1 Ttw 0;?

The subgidhary's regridered address 12 190 Elgin Avens, Gebrge Town, Grand Cayman, Cayinan Izlands

Note 4 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers

All revernze relates to the provision of investment adv ice and v estment management services: In the following table, revenue 15
dizaggregated by peenary geographical market

Coumitry 2622 2021
15D USD
Cayman Islands 17,734,583 18,599,369

Note & — Taxation
Taxes on mecome for the year ended 31 darch 2022 were as follows:

2022 . i v |
s USD
Current Tax
UE comporation bax at 19%% (2021 19%%) based onnet pevenue % (3650000 F {153, 200%
Total Current Income Tax Expense (365,000} {182,200}
Total Income Tax Expense S Gespon § _ Eaaon

A reconcilistion betwesn the amount of tax expense at the effective stalutory rate and taves on income &= reflectad in contirning
opatzons for the years ended 31 hdarch 2022 and 2021 15 presented below

Tax Reconciliation

Profit befors taxes (2021 Profit before tax for pered Ot 21 —Mar 22) £ 1920122 % 958,553

Profit multiplied by the fandard rate of composation tase e the TR 1984

(2021; 1995 —(FER000) (L2000
2002 2021

Total Income Tax Expense (365.000) {152 200

EfTective tax rate for the vear 19.0%% 19.00%

In the 2021 Spring Budget, the Govemment announced that from 1 Apnil 2023, the mamn rate of UK corporation tax rate will increase
to 25%. This was substantively enacted in May 2021 and will have a conzequential effect on the Company's future tax charge The
Cormpany nfends bo utilise current tax credst froem ofher entities in the wider Nikko Group in the yesr to offset the Company's current
tax expense The amount due to afilistes for group tiee relef i2 included a2 a payable m the staternent of financaal position
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NIKEO AM GLOBAL CAYMANLTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Note 6 — Financial Risk Factors

The Croup snd Company’s finameal instrarments comprize cash and cadh equavalents and recemable and payable balances that ase
froen A2 dmly operabions All cash and cash equivalents are carmied ab cost which is considerad bo sppresirnate to fair value duets the
shert term matusity of these financial mstruments The mam nsks associated with the Growp and Company’ s financial assets and
Tiabalities are set out below

Credit risk

Credit nsk 15 defined as the rige of financial less dus to a counterparty’s fashare to honour s obligation principally in relation to
transactsons where the Group or Compary prosides goods or sarvices on deferred terms and where it invests or deposits surphus cash
The Group or Company o not believe that they sre materially exposed to credit risk as its sales deblors are managed group funds and
therefore rnanagement and performance fees receivable are govemed by its agreements with these linds Tomubigate any remdual nge
of these aszets fahng to be delvrered, the Group and Company ensure that the tesms of these agreements in relataon Lo payments of
managemnant and perforrnance foas are adhered bo by monftorng its sged debtor snalpsis againg the agreed service level agresments.

Thedroup and Company adapts the policy of deabing with customers of sppropriate credit history, Forother financial asests the Group
and Cormpany adopts the policy of dealing with fmancaal metibutions and cther counterparties with high credit ratings Thee &re no
financial assets past due and f or mpased a5 ab 31 March 2021 and 2020 Trade recervables are due ab least quarterly, and ane nommally
settled withm 30 days of thewr dus dabe There are no overdus trads recen ab les at the balance sheet date.

Further, with regard bo bk deposits, the Group md Company only deposits money with spproved counteparties on agreed tems

Market risk

Market ride (or systemic risk) i defired as that ride which i3 corrmen to an entire class of azsets or labilities whereby theirvalue can
Ehucthte simply because of economis changes or other events that impact large portions of the market. The Group and Company do
not believe that they are exposed to matenal market mg: as the assetz the Group and Company manage are held by snd for the benefit
of fund holders through separate legal entitres.

Currency risk

Currency risk i dafined a5 the na hat the valoe of assets and labilitses deporenated in aireencies ofhier than e furctiona] aerensy
of the Company will dange m value dus to movenents in foragn enchange rates The Group and Company 15 exposed bo asrency
risk ansing from cash balance: and fses recervable i vanows curenaes

Lauring the year any foreygn exchange nsk on the Company's fees recetvable and payable 15 mitigated by the use of derwatve
indriments, speafaally foreard foregm exchange contracts

TheCompany' s total expeoaure to currency risk aricing from cash balances and fees receivable in ofher currencies, after forwand
exchange confracts, is 3441 503 (2021: $467,911) Asat 31 March 2032, had these currencies srengthened! weakened by 10% againd
the U0, the total egposure would have been higher Mlower by spprox £44, 120 (2021 $46,721)

Liguidity risk and financial sobvency risk

Liquidity ridk 1z defined a2 the rack that the Group or Company will not be able to meet £2 financial chligations a2 they fall due The
Oroup and Coerpany” npprmdi to rransging this rk i 1o ensure that it hae sufficient liquadity to meet its habalities when due, both
under normal and dressed oomditions

Capital management

The Group and Company capital pesibion 12 mertored on an ongoing basis Lo enmare tat 12 adequate. There are no ademally
imposed capital requirements.
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NIEKQ AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
NOTES TOTHE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Transachions bebwesn the Growp and Company and relabed parties are dizclosed below

Year ended 31 March 2022

Hikko Asset Management Armericas, Inc
HNikko Asset Management Eupope Ltd
Wik Aseet MManagement Co , Lid
Mikdeo Aot Mumagement Asia Ld
Mikko Asset Minagement Hong Kong
Highwater Lirruted

Total

Year ended 31 March 2021

Hikdeo Asset benagement Americas, Ine
Wikdko Ascet bdanagement Eurcpe Lid
Mildeo Asset Manngement Co, Lid
Hikko Asset Management Asia Lid
Hikko Azset Management Hong Kong
Highwater Lamited

Total
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Operating Creditor as at 31
Expenses (a} March 2022{h}
UsD UsD
1453613 474,263
731313 IL0EeE
342954 246312
1,227 ,93% 95759
110,482 2865
106,055
13,650,882 1357007
Operating Creditor as at 31
Expenses (a) March 2021 ()
UsD usD
1422718 120,838
£,2089427 720,542
3,786,710 210,852
1,556,076 120,670
164 636 10,393
106,470
15,336,257 1L1B3 495

(ay Operating expenses paid to related parties ape payable under invedtment managernent agresments and are for fund managerment

b

(b} The amounts cutstandug, i the above table relate bo cpavabing expenses, are unasazed and will be sellled i cash Hoguarmbes:
hawe been gren or recesved. Mo provisions have been made fordoubtful debis mrespect of the amounts owed by related parfies

ey Amounts payable o affiliates relatng to group ta relief are not inchuded m the ameunts cutgandng inthe above table bt are
ncluded m the statement of fmancial positbion

Eemuneration of key management personnel 31 March 2022 was USEE0,000 2021 TS 30,0000

Mikko Asset Management Cio, Ltd 15 the intermediate parent company of the Company. Hikko Asset Managemnent Amerscas, Inc,
Mikko Aszet Management Europe Lid , Nikdo Asset Managemnent Azia Lid and Mikko Aszet Management Hong Flong are fellow
subsidianes of the Cornpany. Nideo Asset Management Co., Lid 15 an mdirect shareholder of the subsidianies. Highwater Limted
prow ide director, company secrdtarial and other services to Nikloo AN Global Cayrran Lid

MNote 8 - Ultimate Holding Company

The Cornpany” s srmediate parent 12 Widcke AL Global Heldings Limbed, & company located o the United Kmgdom The Copany
15 3 subsidsary undertakang of Surmitorms Mitan Trust Holdings, Ino whach 15 the wibmate parent company in Japan

The largest grovp in which the results of the Company are consolidated 15 that headed by Sumitomo Mitsus Trust Heldngs, Inc, 1-1-
2 Marunaechi, Chayoda-ku, Tokyo, Japan The conzobdated Foancial gaterments of thas group are avmlable to the publich

ki Mererer guth ol

Mote 9 — Subsequent Events

In Decerrber 2021, the directoes resclved to voluntanly wind up its subsidiary, Hikko AMd (Cayrnan) Limaed 1L was subsequently
deemried o be dizzolved by the Asmiaet Repigrant of Companes, Cayrren Islands on 2 May 2022 There were no other svents,
ubzequent to the taternent of firancial position date, which had an immpact on the consclidated snd mdividual fmancial atements of

the Cormpany
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2022 30

2022 30 2022 31
10,096,630 1,354,261 9,431,206 1,265,008
1,299,809 174,343 2,439,355 327,191
24,700 3,313 70,125 9,406
11,421,139 1,531,917 11,940,686 1,601,604
11,421,139 1,531,917 11,940,686 1,601,604
114,505 15,359 114,502 15,358
128,968 17,298 168,009 22,535
882,504 118,370 1,337,007 179,345
(83,206) (11,160) 365,000 48,957
1,042,771 139,867 1,984,608 266,195

480,000 2022 30
2022 31
480,000 480,000 64,382 480,000 64,382
9,898,368 1,327,668 9,476,078 1,271,026
10,378,368 1,392,050 9,956,078 1,335,409
11,421,139 1,531,917 11,940,686 1,601,604
134.13

135/194



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 30
2022 30 2022 31
6,439,970 863,793 17,934,583 2,405,566
6,439,970 863,793 17,934,583 2,405,566
(847,404) (113,662) (2,125,733) (285,125)
(4,845,798) (649,967) (13,544,787)  (1,816,762)
(11,426) (1,533) (24,386) (3,271)
(129,187) (17,328) (220,807) (29,617)
(5,833,815) (782,490) (15,915,713)  (2,134,775)
606,155 81,304 2,018,870 270,791
(84,865) (11,383) (98,749) (13,245)
(84,865) (11,383) (98,749) (13,245)
521,290 69,921 1,920,121 257,546
(99,000) (13,279) (365,000) (48,957)
422,290 56,642 1,555,121 208,588
422,290 56,642 1,555,121 208,588

134.13
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Independent auditor®s report

To FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as the
Trustee of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund

Our opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund (the Fund) as at December 31, 2022, and results of its
operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
What we have audited
The Fund s financial statements comprise:

the statement of assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2022;

the portfolio of investments as at December 31, 2022;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor =s responsibilities for

the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management 1is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are
conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund s
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements
are issued, or available to be issued, and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this
evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used by the Fund.

Auditor s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor ™s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of management s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund ”s ability to continue as a going concern.
IT we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor ”s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for FirstCaribbean International
Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as Trustee of the Fund in accordance
with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is

shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
May 12, 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR*S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Opinion

We have audited the non-statutory financial statements of Nikko AM Global Cayman Ltd (““the company””) for the
year ended 31 March 2022 which comprise the Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Income, Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, Company Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity, Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2. The non-
statutory financial statements have been prepared for the reasons set out in note 1.

In our opinion the non-statutory financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the Group®s and of the Parent Company ”s affairs as at 31 March
2022 and of the Group®s profit for the year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (““ISAs (UK)”?) and the terms

of our engagement letter dated 21 June 2022. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and

appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the non-statutory financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not
intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the
Group and the Company®s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are
no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going
concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the non-statutory financial statements (““the going
concern period”?).

In our evaluation of the directors® conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group and Company ”s
business model and analysed how those risks might affect the Group and Company s financial resources or ability
to continue operations over the going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:

we consider that the directors® use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the non-
statutory financial statements is appropriate;

we have not identified, and concur with the directors” assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty
related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group®s
or the Company"s ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes

that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are
not a guarantee that the Group or the Company will continue in operation.
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Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (““fraud risks””) we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:

Enquiring of directors and inspection of policy documentation as to the Company s high-level policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or
alleged fraud.

Reading Board meeting minutes.
Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for management.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of
fraud throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account our overall knowledge of the control environment, we
perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk that management
may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries. On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud
risk related to revenue recognition because the calculation of the revenue is non-judgmental and straightforward,
with limited opportunity for manipulation.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

We also performed procedures including identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing
the identified entries to supporting documentation. These included all post-closing journals.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and Regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the directors
and other management (as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the Company®s regulatory and
legal correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management the policies and procedures regarding
compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-
compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), and we assessed the extent of
compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Company®s authority to operate. We identified the following
areas as those most likely to have such an effect: certain aspects of company legislation recognising the
financial nature of the Company®s activities and its legal form.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations
to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.
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Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence,

an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed noncompliance with laws and regulations
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing noncompliance or
fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the Directors® Report. Our opinion on
the non-statutory accounts does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our non-
statutory accounts audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the non-
statutory accounts or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information.

Directors” responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for: the preparation
of the non-statutory accounts, which are intended by them to give a true and fair view; such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of non-statutory financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group®s and the Company s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor®s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-statutory accounts as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the non-statutory accounts.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC s website at
www._frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
Our report has been prepared for the Company solely in accordance with the terms of our engagement. It has been

released to the Company on the basis that our report shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole
(save for the Company ”s own internal purposes) or in part, without our prior written consent.
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Our report was designed to meet the agreed requirements of the Company determined by the Company ”s needs at the

time. Our report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any party wishing to
acquire rights against us other than the Company for any purpose or in any context. Any party other than the
Company who obtains access to our report or a copy and chooses to rely on our report (or any part of it) will do
so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, KPMG LLP will accept no responsibility or liability
in respect of our report to any other party.

Carla Cassidy (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London E14 5GL

Date: 20 September 2022
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Independent auditor®s report

To FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as the
Trustee of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund

Our opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund (the Fund) as at December 31, 2021, and results of its
operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
What we have audited
The Fund s financial statements comprise:

the statement of assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2021;

the portfolio of investments as at December 31, 2021;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor =s responsibilities for

the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management 1is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are
conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund s
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements
are issued, or available to be issued, and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this
evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used by the Fund.

Auditor s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor ™s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of management s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund ”s ability to continue as a going concern.
IT we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor ”s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the FirstCaribbean
International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as Trustee of the Fund in
accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this
opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
June 8, 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR*S REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Opinion

We have audited the non-statutory financial statements of Nikko AM Global Cayman Ltd (““the company””) for the
year ended 31 March 2021 which comprise the Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Income, Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, Company Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity, Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2. The non-
statutory financial statements have been prepared for the reasons set out in note 1.

In our opinion the non-statutory financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the Group®s and of the Parent Company ”s affairs as at 31 March
2021 and of the Group®s profit for the year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (““ISAs (UK)*?) and the terms
of our engagement letter dated 02 April 2020.  Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the non-statutory financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not
intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the
Group and the Company®s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are
no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going
concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the non-statutory financial statements (““the going
concern period””).

In our evaluation of the directors ™ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group and Company *s
business model and analysed how those risks might affect the Group and Company ”s financial resources or ability
to continue operations over the going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:

we consider that the directors® use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the non-
statutory financial statements is appropriate;

we have not identified, and concur with the directors” assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty
related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group®s
or the Company"s ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are

not a guarantee that the Group or the Company will continue in operation.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
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Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (““fraud risks””) we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:

Enquiring of directors and inspection of policy documentation as to the Company s high-level policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or
alleged fraud.

Reading Board meeting minutes.

Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for management.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of
fraud throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account our overall knowledge of the control environment, we
perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk that management
may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries. On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud
risk related to revenue recognition because the calculation of the revenue is non-judgmental and straightforward,
with limited opportunity for manipulation.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

We also performed procedures including identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing
the identified entries to supporting documentation. These included all post-closing journals.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and Regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the directors
and other management (as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the Company"s regulatory and
legal correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management the policies and procedures regarding
compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-
compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), and we assessed the extent of
compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Company®s authority to operate. We identified the following
areas as those most likely to have such an effect: certain aspects of company legislation recognising the
financial nature of the Company"s activities and its legal form.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations
to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.
Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence,
an audit will not detect that breach.
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Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed noncompliance with laws and regulations
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing noncompliance or
fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the Directors” Report. Our opinion on
the non-statutory accounts does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our non-
statutory accounts audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the non-
statutory accounts or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information.

Directors” responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for: the preparation
of the non-statutory accounts, which are intended by them to give a true and fair view; such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of non-statutory financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group®s and the Company s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor®s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-statutory accounts as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the non-statutory accounts.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC s website at
www._frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Our report has been prepared for the Company solely in accordance with the terms of our engagement. It has been
released to the Company on the basis that our report shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole
(save for the Company ”s own internal purposes) or in part, without our prior written consent.

Our report was designed to meet the agreed requirements of the Company determined by the Company s needs at the
time. Our report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any party wishing to
acquire rights against us other than the Company for any purpose or in any context. Any party other than the
Company who obtains access to our report or a copy and chooses to rely on our report (or any part of it) will do
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so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, KPMG LLP will accept no responsibility or liability

in respect of our report to any other party.

Carla Cassidy (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London E14 5GL

Date: 3 December 2021
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